
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 8 November 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 31 October 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 4228;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 8 November 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 58) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 10 October 2017 to be signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 55 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 59 - 62) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Motorcycle Safety (Pages 63 - 64) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on 

motorcycle safety and note the discussion; and 
 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair 
and party Group Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the 
meeting. 

 
 

6 London Underground Rolling Stock (Pages 65 - 66) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the report, put questions to the Deputy 
Mayor for Transport and Transport for London on London Underground rolling 
stock procurement and note the discussion. 
 
 

7 Cycling Infrastructure (Pages 67 - 74) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the scope and terms of reference for the investigation into cycling 

infrastructure, as agreed under delegated authority by the Chairman, in 
consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members; and 
 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and 
party Group Lead Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

8 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 75 - 78) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year, 

including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings set out 

at paragraph 4.20; and 

 

(b) Agree to use its December Meeting to discuss pedicabs and for a discussion 

with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on her recent work and ongoing 

priorities. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 6 December 2017 at 

10.00am in the Chamber. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Tuesday 10 October 2017 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Keith Prince AM (Chairman) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 An apology for absence was received from Florence Eshalomi AM, for whom Dr Onkar Sahota 

AM attended as a substitute Member. 
  

 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 10 October 2017 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 12 September 
2017 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Transport Committee Response to the Draft Mayor's Transport 

Strategy (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
5.2 Resolved: 
 

That the Committee’s submission to the consultation on the draft Mayor’s 
Transport Strategy as agreed under delegated authority. 

 
 
6   Future Transport (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Future Transport to the following invited guests: 

 Henry Harris-Burland, Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies; 

 Tony Henley, Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group; and 

 Professor Alan McKinnon, Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University (via 

videolink). 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.3 The Chairman noted that as part of this investigation, the Committee had a site visit arranged 

to Starship Technologies on 1 November 2017, and to GATEway Project, Royal College of 

Arts, on 13 November 2017.  

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 10 October 2017 

 

 
 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, the following requests for further information in writing 

were agreed: 

 Professor Alan McKinnon to provide the Committee with a calculation of the estimated 

number of droids that would be required in order to reduce road congestion in London 

by 1%; and 

 Henry Harris-Burland to provide the Committee with a copy of Starship Technologies’ 

Memorandum of Understanding with the London Borough of Southwark. 

 

6.5 At this point in the meeting, the Chairman agreed to take the rest of the agenda in a 

different order, in accordance with Standing Order 2.2D. 

 
 
7   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 9) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
7.2 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the work programme for 2017/18 Assembly year, including the schedule 
of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings set out at paragraph 4.20 of 
the report be agreed;  
 

(b) That Authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 
Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 
reference for an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure; 

 
(c) That the record of the site visit to Crossrail’s Ilford depot, as set out at 

Appendix 1 to the report, be noted; and 
 
(d) That the next Committee meeting be used to discuss motorcycle safety in 

London.  

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 10) 

 
8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 8 November 2017 at 

10.00am, in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 11) 

 
9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 10 October 2017 

 

 
 

10   Future Transport (Item 6) 

 

10.1 The Committee then put questions on Future Transport to the following invited guests: 

 Michael Hurwitz, Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London; and 

 Lauren Sager Weinstein, Chief Data Officer, Transport for London. 

 

10.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

10.3 During the course of the discussion, the Director of Transport Innovation agreed to provide 

the Committee with an update on the progress of the further piloting of the Wayfinder app. 
 
10.4 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the report and the discussion be noted; and 
 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 
Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 
investigation into Future Transport. 

 
 
11   London TravelWatch Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018/19 (Item 7) 

 
11.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the London TravelWatch Business Plan and Budget Bid 2018/19 and 
Performance Report to the following invited guests: 

 John Stewart, Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch; and 

 Janet Cooke, Chief Executive, London TravelWatch. 
 
11.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 3. 
 
11.3 On behalf of the Committee, the formally thanked the outgoing chair of the London 

TravelWatch Board, Stephen Locke, for his hard work over the past four and a half years.  
 
11.4 Resolved: 
 

 That London TravelWatch’s proposed budget and Business Plan for the next 
financial year be agreed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 10 October 2017 

 

 
 

12   London TravelWatch Performance Report (Item 8) 

 
12.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
12.2 Resolved: 
 

That London TravelWatch’s performance over the past year and financial position 
as at 31 March 2017 be noted.  

 
 
13   Close of Meeting  

 
13.1 The meeting ended at 12.49pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 
 

                                        Appendix 1              
 

Transport Committee – Tuesday, 10 October 2017 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – Future Transport 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That now brings us to the interesting part of this event and that is 

future transport.  I would like to welcome Mr Henry Harris-Burland, who is the Vice-President of 

Marketing for Starship Technologies.  That sounds exciting in itself, does it not?  Then we have 

Tony Henley, who is the Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems Group 

and Professor Alan McKinnon, Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University, is coming in via video 

link.  It is lovely to see you.  Just to note, we will be coming to visit you [Starship Technologies], I 

believe, on 1 November 2017.  We are very much looking forward to that.  Then we also on 

13 November 2017 have a meeting with Dan Phillips from the GATEway Project [Royal College of Art] 

and he was a guest of the Committee in September. 

 

If we can start, I shall kick off with question one.  Henry, Tony and Alan, will London’s skies be full of 

drones in 10 years’ time? 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  Probably not.  However, there will be quite a few around, but there are some significant 

challenges.  There is an awful lot of work going on.  A lot of people are pushing very hard.  A lot of 

technology is being developed. 

 

However, there are three things that will slow it down.  One is safety, another is public acceptance and 

the third is regulation.  At the moment, we have a regulatory framework that covers what is called visual 

line of sight operation and it covers it in the United Kingdom very well and there is an awful lot going 

on in commercial activity.  The European Aviation Safety Agency has just published a proposal for 

tidying up those rules and that comes as two 128-page volumes of proposed rules, primarily for the line 

of sight operations.  The work on the beyond line of sight operations, which is critical to delivery 

systems, is still beginning.  It is still embryonic in terms of regulation. 
1
 

 

That is not to say a lot is not going to happen, but we need to be realistic about both the regulatory 

public acceptance and assuring safety for those things. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  For some of 

those reasons that Tony mentioned, our Starship Technologies robots are on the pavement; they are 

not in the air.  For safety issues, regulation issues, ease of commercial availability and the speed of the 

technology, our robots operate on the pavement at a max speed of 4 miles an hour.  The average speed 

is a lot lower than that.  They can stop within about 3 inches at max speed.  In a worst-case scenario, 

which we obviously need to think about, our robots come to a safe stop on the pavement, which is why 

we have chosen that direction for the future of our company. 

 

                                                 
1 Clarification provided by Tony Henley after the meeting: Beyond visual line of sight operations are allowed in 

the UK today, but require an individual safety case and cannot yet be approved on the basis of meeting 

requirements. 
 

Page 11



 

 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  They do not cross in front of cars, either.  I gave way to one the other 

day in Lewisham and it would not cross the road. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  They play it safe. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  We have 

heard that there may be safety and public acceptance constraints.  I also feel that we will not see the 

skies filled with drones.  We have to be clear here.  Drones serve many purposes.  I am very doubtful 

that drones will become a mass means of parcel delivery.  Drones have a whole range of other 

applications where they can be used very effectively.  Most of the drones up there at the moment are 

recreational drones and it is very hard to predict what will happen to that market.  What I am doubtful 

of is that we will see them being deployed, really, to deliver parcels, for various reasons. 

 

If we have to look at the way in which online retail logistics are currently organised, for the big players 

in this market like Amazon, one of their big offerings is the range of products that they can supply.  To 

make those products available, they store them in huge distribution centres serving wide catchment 

areas.  The catchment area of a drone is going to be 10 or 12 miles.  You cannot serve a very wide area 

from these large fulfilment centres that companies like Amazon currently operate.  Therefore, where are 

the parcels going to come from that will feed into this urban drone delivery system?  Amazon or other 

retailers would then have to decentralise their inventory to an urban level but they cannot do that while 

maintaining the vast product range that they currently offer.  All that you would be getting locally 

would be some of the fast-moving products.  Amazon has suggested that what it would do is use 

predictive analytics and use big data to anticipate what the demand would be for particular products 

and then preposition inventory closer to the customer.  That would then allow them to make a rapid 

delivery of those products by drone. 

 

What is the purpose of a drone?  Basically, two things: one, to allow you to provide customers with a 

much more rapid delivery and, also, potentially - and we can discuss this later - to cut delivery costs.  

Some people are suggesting that you might get a drone delivery for as little as 10 or 20 pence.  I doubt 

that but, if that were true, then there would be a big incentive to use drones, clearly, to cut the costs of 

local delivery. 

 

Given all these logistical constraints, my feeling is that drone deliveries will be niche.  They will probably 

be a premium service offered to less patient consumers.  However, I do not see this becoming a new 

mass mode of parcel delivery within urban areas. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I agree with that last statement because I was going to ask: what can usefully be 

delivered by a drone?  Their payload capacity is very low.  Their range is very low.  Is that why, Henry, 

you have offered wheeled drones because that increases that? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  It is definitely 

another factor.  Our robots can carry about 12 to 15 kilograms, give or take.  Right now, for aerial 

drones, if you think about the economics and the cost of picking up something so heavy, it is not 

economically viable for the foreseeable future as we see it right now. 

 

In 10 or 15 years, our overall outlook on how this is going to look is you are going to have aerial drones 

as a complementary service to ground delivery robots or droids.  We are not going to be competing 

against each other, in our opinion.  The aerial drones are going to be doing deliveries in the more rural 

Page 12



 

 
 

areas over rivers and forests, those hard-to-reach areas where humans, cars and robots find it difficult 

to go, or maybe the farms out in the countryside.  When you come into a more suburban or urban 

setting, that is where the robots are then going to take over and do ground deliveries.  You are not 

going to have the city filled with drones buzzing above your head. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  The current 

capacity of a drone - the ones that are being touted as being used for logistics - is about a maximum of 

5 pounds or about 2.3 kilograms.  That does not seem a lot, but then Amazon claims that 80% of the 

orders they send out are less than that.  Therefore, in weight terms, there would be that potential. 

 

One of the key things to remember about drones is that there are very few economies of scale.  You are 

delivering one parcel at a time.  If you compare that with a van-based delivery system where a van can 

go off in the morning with maybe 120 or 130 separate orders to be delivered over an eight-hour period, 

you are getting a much more efficient delivery.  Therefore, when you look at all the constraints, it just 

amazes me that companies like Google and Amazon and so forth are putting so much effort into 

developing drones for parcel delivery because I just do not see that happen. 

 

However, there may be other markets.  Take fast food, for example.  Clearly, droids are being used for 

that purpose at the moment.  It could be that fast food does not come from a big distribution centre; it 

comes from a local restaurant.  Some people, therefore, may want to have a pizza delivered by drone 

and that certainly may be possible.  I do not see groceries being delivered by this means one product at 

a time.  Clearly, that is not going to happen.  I just return to my point: it may be a niche development 

but it is not going to be a major feature in the future of London’s transport, it seems to me. 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  There will be a very strong market for specialist delivery: hospital supplies, blood products, 

human organs, things like that.  Anything that is high value and needs to be delivered quickly could 

effectively be done by drones, particularly if they are standard route structures, if they are going from 

one hospital to another and that is plugged into the system.  As soon as you start talking about random 

deliveries, it gets much more difficult to do, although technology will be able to support that.  People 

are working on unmanned traffic management (UTM) systems,  Air  Traffic control systems  for drones, 

which will provide a lot of capability , but there are serious challenges from a commercial point of view 

about whether you can run a delivery system of the scale that Amazon is talking about.  I agree with the 

Professor. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Can they go into dark, unpleasant areas where humans might fear to 

tread, do you think?  What are the risks around them being hijacked or whatever? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  The droids? 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  It is a very fair 

question: security measures with the droids and whether they are going to get stolen and things like 

that.  It is something that we needed to learn when we started introducing our robots onto the 

pavements.  Of course, it was a concern for us, but now the robots have done over 60,000 miles of 

deliveries and have been tested in 100 cities in 17 different countries, and we are not talking about just 

lovely areas.  We have not had a single theft yet, which was a surprise even to us, in honesty. 

Page 13



 

 
 

 

It will happen at some point, of course.  It is impossible to prevent.  People still steal cars and bikes.  

However, this robot has many theft prevention measures.  There are sirens if you lift it up like a car 

alarm.  It has nine cameras around the front and back.  It is tracked to the nearest inch.  The lid is 

locked and so you do not know what is inside and you cannot get inside because the robot is 

unbranded.  Then, if you did go to the huge amount of effort to wrap this thing in tinfoil and go 

underground and then smash it open, you are going to find some milk and eggs.  It is a lot of effort for 

not much. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That was interesting.  Thank you. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  Can I just 

comment on the security aspects? In the case of drones, the big concern is that there will be a collision 

with a passenger aircraft.  If one looks at the data compiled every year by the Airprox Board here in the 

UK, we see that in 2013 there were no near misses.  So far this year, there have been 62.  The number 

is increasing every year.  These are not delivery drones, clearly.  These are merely drones being used for 

recreational purposes, but that is the one really big concern.  It seems to me, if there were to be a 

collision and a significant loss of life from a drone accident, then that would put a huge dampener, 

clearly, on the development of this technology. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Just a quick question: can they be taken out?  Could children lob 

things at them or shoot them out of the sky with their air pistols or something? 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  Shooting drones is quite tricky, although there have been cases in the United States where 

people have been doing it and even been encouraged to do it by the legal system, but in general it is 

fairly difficult to hit one with anything other than a sensible rifle.  We are assuming they are not flying 

below 50 metres because, otherwise, that would be considered unacceptable, but [shooting them out 

of the sky] is not really a problem.  Dropping on people’s heads is the thing that would worry people 

more. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  There are a 

few things being tried.  There is a bazooka system, which fires a net that captures the drone and brings 

it down to the ground.  The Dutch are using eagles.  They are training - this is true - bald eagles to try 

to apprehend drones that are flying in sensitive areas.  In Dubai Airport, they are not actually bringing 

down the drones but any drones that stray into the airspace at the airport get tracked by an aerial 

robot.  It follows the drone down to the ground so that they can see who has been operating it.  One of 

the problems here is that drones are not registered currently and so we do not know who is flying them 

and it is very difficult to take action against people who are abusing the regulations. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I wanted to move on to droids, which we have already 

started a bit.  Perhaps I can start with you, Alan.  To what extent can these pavement-based droids 

reduce congestion caused by parcel delivery in London? 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  Not much, I 

would have thought.  I have not done any analysis of the congestion impact of droids, but I can 

Page 14



 

 
 

comment briefly on the congestion impact of drones because I reckon they are a niche logistics service.  

Let us turn the argument on its side and let us suppose we said we wanted to reduce traffic levels in a 

UK city - this is not necessarily London - by 1%.  That 1% would not have a big impact on congestion 

levels.  What I worked out was how many drones you would require to achieve that reduction in traffic 

levels. 

 

One of the key variables in the calculation is the substitution ratio for drones to vans.  I reckon you 

need about 15 or 16 drones to replace one van.  If you use the available statistics from the Department 

for Transport (DfT) and use those numbers, I would reckon that to achieve a 1% reduction in traffic you 

would have to put about 1.8 million drones into the sky.  In other words, the sky would be filled with 

drones.  Even if you do a sensitivity analysis and we change some of those numbers - so let us suppose 

my ratio was too high and let us suppose it is 1:10 for vans and let us suppose the productivity of vans 

is higher than I am assuming - you might get it down to 500,000 drones, but it is still a very large 

number.  Therefore, it seems to me that those people who argue that drones are a way of relieving 

urban traffic congestion are deceiving themselves.  I have not done the calculation for droids, but it is 

probably a similar calculation.  It relates to the scalability of these technologies. 

 

The other thing about droids - and Henry [Harris-Burland] can comment more on this than I can - is 

that the expectation is that they will be operating more in suburban areas where roads are less 

congested anyway.  I do not know to what extent one would anticipate their use in inner urban areas 

where the congestion problem is more severe.  I am sorry my answer is relating more to drones, but one 

can extrapolate from my drone calculations to droids, possibly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That was very helpful.  Tony, Henry, do you want to 

respond to the initial question and what Alan has said? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):               

E-commerce is growing by 9% or 10% a year and that just quite simply means that we are all ordering 

more things online.  This is a bit of an unstoppable force, which in turn is increasing the number of cars 

and vans out on the roads doing parcel delivery. 

 

We are talking a lot about parcel delivery when we talk about congestion, but we should also be talking 

about our own personal trips to go to the grocery store or to pick up parcels or whatever the case may 

be.  Our droids on the pavements can assist with not just the parcel deliveries and reducing congestion 

and pollution there, but also the waste of us driving our two-tonne car down the road two miles to go 

to the grocery store to pick up two or three bags of shopping, which I have been guilty of many a time.  

Our robots are not going to solve congestion and this is not the silver bullet, but they are going to 

assist with the problem going forward.  Our robots can carry 12 to 15 kilograms, two or three shopping 

bags, give or take, and so they are not going to do your weekly shop and they are not going to be 

delivering flat-screen TVs and things like that, but the aim is to increase the convenience to the 

consumers whilst increasing the efficiency for businesses. 

 

Right now, delivery is very expensive for parcel delivery companies.  We have been talking a lot about 

150 parcels per van as a good number to suggest that a van does in a day.  That is mass drop deliveries.  

That is the guy or the girl chucking parcels on doorsteps, putting slips through your door when you are 

not at home, chucking them over fences and that sort of thing.  That is not on demand.  That is where 

the industry is going, to on-demand deliveries. 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

If you say: how many parcel deliveries can a van do on demand?  That is when the consumer has said, “I 

want it at 1.00pm or between 1.00pm and 3.00pm”.  That number drops dramatically to maybe four 

deliveries per hour, give or take.  Our robots are looking to look after that part of this market.  The cost 

of doing that on-demand delivery might be £5 to £10 for food delivery.  It might be £15 to £25 for 

delivery for groceries.  Parcel delivery is actually the best optimised and so it might be £3 to £7.  Of 

course, every single business is different.  Our droids are looking to get that cost down in the future to 

about £1 to £2, which can open up a wealth of opportunity for businesses and also local businesses that 

do not have access to delivery right now because it is too expensive. 

 

Of course, by switching vans from the road to droids on the pavement, you do not want your pavement 

filled with hundreds of thousands of droids, which is the obvious thing that comes to mind, but we have 

done some calculations.  If we were to do every single delivery - and this may never happen - you 

would see a droid on the pavement about once a minute, give or take.  That may sound like a lot of 

droids, once a minute, but if you compare it to how often you see a pedestrian, it is actually not very 

often at all.  That may be decades away.  That may never happen. 

 

In reality, we get a fleet of robots - it may be 15 to 20, give or take - and we place them into a 

neighbourhood and those robots are utilised for a number of different things, not just parcels.  It is 

groceries, it is food, local dry-cleaning and things like that.  The neighbourhood has access to these 

fleets of robots instead of using vans or cars or motorbikes to increase efficiency and reduce costs for 

the end user. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you just explain to us, Henry, how your pilot is 

working at the moment?  I have seen these droids around.  How does it actually work in terms of going 

to someone’s door, as it were?  What if they are not there when you have a parcel?  How does it all 

work?  I do not understand. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  Sure.  The first 

thing is that we aim to eliminate missed deliveries.  Going back to the mass drop where there is just 

parcels getting chucked and slips getting put through doors, we aim to completely eliminate that and 

only have attended deliveries when we want, which is where the industry is heading. 

 

Right now, if I take a couple of examples, Just Eat we work with for takeaway food and Hermes 

Logistics we work with for parcel collection and parcel delivery.  You as a consumer would order your 

parcels or your food online, just like you would normally, and then you would be notified that you 

would be getting a robot for delivery and you could choose a time within a five-minute window.  Say I 

want my pair of shoes at 3.05pm for whatever reason.  I would then get a text message saying, “Your 

robot is out for delivery”, and the robot then leaves a local hub within that neighbourhood or city.  We 

have these localised hubs where we can store parcels, the robots are recharged, the robots are cleaned 

and that sort of thing.  The robot leaves the hub with the parcel.  You can track your robot on your 

phone if you want to.  Then it sends you another text message - it is done over SMS text message at 

the moment - saying, “Knock-knock.  Your delivery robot is outside your door”.  If you live in a block of 

flats, you would come down to the door.  If you live in a house, you would come outside and open your 

door.  There is a button which basically says ‘unlock’.  It is not a code but it is unique to you and so no 

one else can unlock your robot.  You press the button, open the lid and take your goods.  As soon as 

you have closed the lid, the robot then trundles back to its localised hub.  The radius is one to two 

miles. 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Is there a limit to the scale of these droid deliveries?  

You have said you have done a bit of work on it, but is it just a niche market, a bit like Alan has 

suggested around the drones as well? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  We do not think 

it is a niche market.  We think it can definitely turn into a mass-market opportunity.  We have to start 

somewhere but we have already done thousands and thousands of deliveries with our robot.  We see it 

as a highly localised solution.  Any sorts of deliveries within a neighbourhood of one to two miles robots 

can be looked after.  If your delivery might be five miles away or 10 miles away or however far away 

past two miles, you might use a slightly different solution.  It might be someone on a bike, it might be 

someone in a car, it might be someone on a moped or whatever the case may be. 

 

However, from a business perspective, the way we see this in the long run is they will have lots of 

different vehicles that they have access to, like the ones I mentioned: cars, vans, bikes, mopeds, robots, 

drones.  They will just choose the most efficient method for that delivery with the options that they 

have in front of them.  Droids and drones to some extent will just be part of a wider solution in the long 

run, but from a one to two-mile radius we do see droids as mass-market. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  This is the final mile, the thing we talked about using 

cargo bikes and things for, to get vans off the road.  You are saying this could take -- 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  We call it ‘last-

mile delivery’.  It is a bit of a business-to-business (B2B) term, but it is exactly as you just said.  It is the 

last couple of miles from a hub to a customer’s house and that is the part of the delivery that is most 

inefficient right now.  Up to 40% of the total transportation cost can be weighted in those last couple 

of miles, which means if we are ordering something from China, the first 4,900 miles account for 60% 

and then those last three miles or whatever account for 40%.  Businesses are doing anything they can 

to innovate in those last couple of miles to get the cost down because it is really high in relation to 

transportation.  That is where we see droids really making a big difference. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I am going to come to you in a second, Tony [Henley].  

I just have a couple more bits here.  Have you been doing night-time deliveries as well as part of your 

pilot? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  We have done 

limited night-time testing. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Are there any regulatory barriers to your pavement-

based droids? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  It totally depends 

on what jurisdiction you are in when you talk about the world, but in the majority of places we operate 

we seek permissions.  It is not legal to put a robot on the pavement without prior permission.  There are 

a couple of exceptions like Vienna in Austria and some other areas and I am not quite sure why, but in 

every area we operate in we seek prior permission.  Let us say in London, for example.  We work on a 

borough-by-borough level at the moment.  In the US we work on a state level and a city level.  In some 

countries we work on a national level. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  The ones in London I am interested in.  I have seen the 

one out in Southwark.  What are the issues?  How does it cope?  Say you have someone who is in a 

wheelchair who cannot perhaps as easily manoeuvre and you have this droid blocking the pavement. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  Sure.  The robot 

has been designed to be a convenience, not an inconvenience, on the pavement.  If our robots were 

bumping into things, getting in the way of people, not getting out the way of people and that sort of 

thing, then our company is not going to be very successful, in all honesty.  What we have to do, and 

what we have done, is to build a robot that is a convenience on the pavement, that blends in with 

pedestrians, that has the same social etiquette as pedestrians.  That is the challenge that we are solving, 

which is really difficult.  We could just build a robot that goes straight and people have to get out the 

way of the robot, but that is not going to be successful.  Social acceptance, we have found, is incredibly 

important and is so key to the success of these sorts of technologies like our droids.  The robots have to 

be accepted by the public, by the pedestrians who are walking with them maybe on a daily basis. 

 

In answer to your question, with someone in a wheelchair, someone who may be blind with a walking 

stick or something along those lines, the robot can do three things.  It can come to a safe and slow 

stop, it can manoeuvre around pedestrians or, on a very narrow pavement, it can back up and get out of 

the way.  The robot can decide which one of those three things to do depending on the situation and 

we are learning hundreds of thousands of new situations almost on a daily basis to determine exactly 

what to do. 

 

The robot is not going to get in the way.  It is not going to be an inconvenience.  If it was, we would 

not be in business. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  There have not been any issues with that in your trials?  

Brilliant.  Tony, do you want to come in and talk generally about how useful droids really are going to 

be in reducing congestion.  Is it just a niche thing? 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  I am wary about commenting on droids.  There is a problem with short deliveries because, 

unless you can set up an infrastructure that delivers lots of things to a local node - and this is a model 

that we could potentially use for drones as well - it is going to be limited to the local shop and the local 

groceries.  You need - we are talking about infrastructure - numerous local delivery nodes which get 

lots of parcels and then they are distributed out, which may work from a cost point of view and may be 

viable for using drones for those short loops as well. 

 

There is one other model that probably you ought to think about.  There is some serious work going on 

to look at passenger-carrying drones.  Dubai has done some work.  Airbus is quite keen on it, to the 

extent that they have said, “What we want is the airspace between 500 feet and 1,500 feet reserved for 

urban air mobility”.  That is a larger sized drone, which could be used for delivering larger numbers of 

parcels, potentially, to the top of a block of flats.  There are still issues about how you do the last mile 

and so you need to think about these local nodes.  Whether that is viable or not and whether that 

makes sense logistically or economically I do not know, but it is certainly a model that is going to be 

possible. 

 

It is not going to be cheap to build big drones, but it is going to be in some ways easier to make sure 

they are safe.  If there is an accident, there is more damage, clearly, if it weighs one tonne rather than 

Page 18



 

 
 

25 pounds, but the cost of making a 25-pound drone safe and airworthy is really very high.  It is a really 

difficult challenge; whereas we know how to do it for bigger aircraft.  It is not cheap but it is an 

extension of current technology, whereas small drones are really very difficult.  The safety model at the 

moment is to not let the drones get near people, rather than to make the drone safe, which sounds a 

bit strange.  That will change, but larger drones might be interesting if there are places to put them 

down to support local nodes. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  There is one 

other technology which I have not mentioned, which is worth mentioning.  It is something we are 

developing called the ‘mothership’ concept.  This is a traditional parcel delivery van that houses 

Starship delivery droids.  It is like connecting the two dots of the parcel delivery van doing the stem 

miles of maybe 10 or 15 miles from a fulfilment centre and then you have the Starship delivery droids 

doing the last couple of miles, which are the most inefficient at the moment. 

 

We have done trials already in a country in the Baltics where we have done thousands of deliveries with 

this mothership.  We call it Robovan.  It quite simply is a traditional delivery van which has eight robots 

underneath and the parcels are on top.  What we are trying to do there is you are matching up two 

delivery systems to try to make the most efficient delivery system.  We have worked out that you can 

increase driver efficiency by up to 200% - potentially more with further testing - by using this model.  

Instead of the van stop-start-stop-start 150 times, the van stops just once in a neighbourhood, in a in a 

nice part which is not congesting roads or blocking places.  The robots then go and do the deliveries 

and then the van roams around picking up empty robots, dropping off more robots doing more 

deliveries, and can go back to the fulfilment centre to pick up more parcels whilst being less of an 

inconvenience.  That is something very exciting that is not commercially viable right now but it is 

something that we are testing and something hopefully we will see more of in the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Interesting.  Thank you. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  There is an 

analogy to that vehicle in the drone world as well.  It is what they call the drone truck.  Mercedes-Benz 

has developed one.  It is a van that will do a normal course of delivery but at certain points drones will 

be able to come through the roof the van, fly off, make a delivery and then return to the van as well.  It 

is like a hybrid delivery system that combines drones with vans. 

 

Just reacting maybe to some of the other points that were mentioned there, we are suggesting that 

drones or droids will offer us delivery costs much cheaper than the current van ones.  It depends where 

you draw the boundary around your cost calculation, however.  If you are just looking at the delivery 

itself, I can see that maybe that would be cheaper, but you have to look at how the delivery integrates 

into the logistics system.  Again, you have to look at the costs of what Henry [Harris-Burland] called 

the depot or the hub.  If we are going to use the vans, again, you have the costs associated with that.  

If it is deliveries of parcels, for example, you have to look at inventory costs. 

 

The economics of drones and drone delivery at the moment involve a lot of controversy.  Some people 

say it is going to be very cheap.  Some people say it is going to be very expensive.  It really depends on 

the accounting principles that they apply.  Therefore, I am personally not persuaded that this is going 

to be as cheap as many people are currently arguing. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

Just one other point.  If the objective here is to ease traffic congestion in urban areas, there are many 

other ways in which that can be done.  About 20 years ago I chaired a Government committee looking 

at unattended delivery to make it possible to deliver to homes, offices and shops out of hours.  We still 

have not fully exploited that technology over 20 years.  We could shift deliveries into evenings and 

nights and be sure that the delivery would be made because there would be a reception box to receive 

it. 

 

Another innovation recently, which is very low-tech, is something called crowd shipping.  These online 

platforms allow ordinary people to carry parcels in the course of their normal travel.  Again, some of the 

research that has been done on that - some by me - suggests that that has the potential to reduce 

traffic levels and congestion and also offers a number of other benefits.  Therefore, we should not just 

be fixated by these high-tech solutions like drones and droids.  We should look at a range of other 

possibilities. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  When we were talking about drones, Alan, you said it would take 1.8 million drones 

to have a 1% reduction in traffic.  Is the calculation the same for droids?  How many droids do we need 

to see a decrease in traffic? 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  That is a good 

question.  A droid has a heavier payload.  Perhaps Henry [Harris-Burland] could enlighten us on this, 

but if we reckon that the payload of a drone is something like 5 pounds maximum weight, a droid could 

probably carry three or four times that amount and so you would have to factor that into the 

calculation as well.  We think in terms of a drone carrying just one parcel; presumably a droid could 

carry several. 

 

It is not strictly comparable because drones are now being portrayed as a mode of online order delivery, 

I suppose, mainly because one of the main advocates of drone delivery has been Amazon, which we 

associate with online retailing.  Whereas, as Henry has explained, drones are a more localised solution.  

It is more for moving products that have been sourced locally, like from local restaurants and so forth. 

 

I would be hesitant just to extrapolate my numbers.  I am happy to do a similar calculation, but I have 

not done it yet and, therefore, I would hesitate to come up with a hard figure. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  If you were able to, that might be quite useful.  With droids certainly, I could see 

them replacing the Ocado delivery vans.  If you are at the supermarket, they can just put all your 

shopping in there and send them off.  That seems to me to be one of the potential areas where they 

could make an impact. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  There are three 

main industries we operate in: groceries, parcels and takeaway food.  As we have all mentioned, we 

have pretty much touched on all of those industries already.  They are the deliveries that we are looking 

after. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I just wanted to pick up on the point that Alan [McKinnon] was raising about 

the cost calculation.  Henry [Harris-Burland] was saying that droids will increase convenience for the 

consumer and increase efficiency for businesses, but that is at a social cost.  There are a lot of people at 

Page 20



 

 
 

the moment who are working in deliveries.  They are driving delivery vans.  They are working for bike 

delivery companies and courier companies.  Presumably, making it more efficient for the business is 

because you are cutting out a layer of jobs that currently keep people employed and economically 

active in London or wherever you are operating. 

 

I am just wondering whether there has been any study done into the economic impact of the loss of 

jobs that might come about through the use of droids.  You also have all the other social costs which 

we will be coming on to later in terms of safety on the pavements and stuff, but just in terms of those 

jobs. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  It is a very good 

question and it is very hot topic as well with automation and everyone talking about potential mass job 

losses. 

 

We have looked into it, of course, and it is easy to make the assumption that if we are talking about 

getting the cost down to £1, then suddenly everyone is going to be out of a job.  In reality, what we 

have done is we have figured out that the companies we are working with right now cannot maintain 

the demand.  People on delivery bikes or cars or whatever it might be are cancelling orders - in the food 

delivery industry I am talking about now - and they are not accepting orders because they cannot keep 

up with the demand.  Our robots at the moment in our London trials are facilitating the additional 

demand with those orders. 

 

Also, I come from the automotive industry and if we look back 50 years ago, people all thought they 

were going to lose their jobs when robots were introduced into the automotive industry.  Now in 2017, 

we have never had more robots in the automotive industry, we have never had more people employed 

and we have never had more cars built.  There is an element for all of us to realise or understand the job 

creation in the future.  In our robot company we have roles called robot operators, which is a job that 

12 months ago did not exist.  We are creating new jobs all the time in that small space that we did not 

even realise we needed in the future.  There is a huge potential that we cannot appreciate right now, 

that will facilitate new jobs. 

 

In the long run, though, of course, you are talking about maybe a different industry compared to the 

delivery industry and there will be a shift, definitely.  It is impossible to say that there will not be, but it 

definitely is not going to be a drastic flick of a switch overnight. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I suppose the other issue is that if these deliveries are not being done by 

people, there is the issue of someone who is older and who is grateful for the delivery person carrying 

the shopping up the front doorstep into the hallway.  There is that level of service for people who are 

older or people with disabilities that does not come with a droid.  There are costs to society.  

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  That is for the 

businesses.  They would not be offering a good service if someone had specifically said, “I do not want 

a droid delivery because I do not want to go down a flight of stairs or I cannot physically go down a 

flight of stairs”.  Going back to my previous point, droids fit into a wider ecosystem, in the long run, of 

cars and vans and humans in those cars and vans and bikes.  Droids fit into that mix.  If you do not 

want a droid, of course, then you would have the option not to choose a droid and, definitely, that is 

the way that the industry is going.  For people that can have droids, it will just become commonplace. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Caroline Russell AM:  Then there is the question of whether it becomes more expensive to have the 

assisted service and that has social implications because it is the older people and people with 

disabilities who would need that human help. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  One thing we 

found, especially with the elderly where we have done some medicine deliveries and things like that in 

Switzerland, was that actually the elderly people we have delivered to have really benefited from the 

service because they may be reliant, especially these people who need to go out to the grocery store or 

whatever the case may be, they may be reliant on public transport or family members to get around or 

go to these places, and sometimes they do not want to be reliant.  This droid can bring the goods to 

them on demand as well for a relatively low cost.  Through our experience - and I cannot talk for five or 

10 years down the line - we have had very positive feedback from the elderly and also some disabled 

people we have delivered to. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  A lot of ground has been covered about the viability of drone deliveries in urban 

areas, in high-density areas, etc, and it has been put here as a question about whether the use of drone 

deliveries could be restricted to outer London areas only.  I want to raise this issue with both Henry and 

Alan.  Yes, that obviously would seem to be an appropriate rational consideration now, but looking 

ahead, given that there will be rapid growth in those outer London currently suburban areas, they will 

soon enough become urban areas.  Can you comment as to how viable it is to consider outer London 

areas and giving them that scope for drone deliveries now and what happens in the future when they 

become more suburban? 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  Yes, I agree.  

If drones have a future as a delivery mode, it is going to be in areas of low-density population - even 

beyond suburban London, in the Highlands of Scotland or whatever - because the unit costs of 

delivering in those areas are very high.  If you look at some of the existing services, there is one in 

Germany, for example, where medicines are delivered to remote communities very efficiently.  That will 

work. 

 

I do not want to be perceived as being anti-drone here.  I do see a whole range of meaningful 

applications.  With dispersal of the population, drones can meet that requirement.  Drones’ competitive 

advantage against vans tends to increase as the density of the population diminishes and so there 

would be a role for it in those areas; particularly if you use the drone truck that I mentioned earlier, 

which is a range extender.  It expands the catchment area that you can use for a drone delivery.  Yes, 

there is something in it. 

 

Conversely, I do not see much future for the use of drones in inner urban areas where there is a dense 

population and where you have all sorts of safety and security issues about drones overflying large 

populations and buildings.  I just do not see them developing in that inner urban environment. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  It is worth 

making the distinction between drones and droids. I know my droids and Alan knows his drones and so I 

cannot comment for drones.  We do think that droids are assisting in those suburban and urban 

environments where drones cannot because you would have lots buzzing above your heads.  Again, 

going back to social acceptance, from what we have found from research, people do not necessarily 

want drones buzzing above their heads; whilst droids operating seamlessly on the pavements around 

Page 22



 

 
 

them we have found, through experience, they are perfectly happy with.  Yes, urban and suburban 

environments, droids, in our opinion; less urban and less suburban environments, drones. 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  If I could just throw in one thing, yes, we have all been fairly down on drones for delivery in 

London and the arguments are right.  However, it is likely to happen or there is likely to be a lot of 

pressure from suppliers - people like Amazon - to do it.  With that in mind, London needs to think 

about being able to control it both from a regulatory point of view but also from an air traffic control 

(ATC) point of view.  There is a lot of work going on to look at what is called UTM or ‘U-space’.  It 

would be important that that is not owned by a supplier of the delivery service and that it is something 

that all competitors can access and therefore is centrally governed or managed. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  Can I bring in 

another matter which we have not discussed yet but which is relevant to that question: where do the 

drones actually land?  If you look at the videos on YouTube, you see the drones gracefully landing on 

people’s driveways or on their gardens.  That is fine if you have a driveway, but in areas where you have 

high-density populations living in tower blocks, for example, you presumably then would have to have 

some communal landing pad.  For security reasons, that would have to be manned, presumably, as well. 

 

One has to give a lot of credit to Amazon because they have done a lot of creative thinking in this area.  

They have a lot of patents that they have produced in recent years to show how they will address these 

problems.  One of their patents relates to using lamp standards as landing pads for drones.  The drone 

would land and it would also be able to recharge its batteries.  There would be a chute and the parcel 

would drop down to the bottom and there would be a collection point at the bottom of the street lamp 

there.  I do not think for a moment that that is going to work, but it shows that people have explored 

this. 

 

There are also images of tower blocks of the future which will have balconies and there will be 

dedicated drone landing pads beside them.  I see all of that as science fiction.   I do not really think it is 

going to happen, but it does raise a very critical point.  Where do we land these things and how can 

that be done safely and securely, particularly where you have multiple dwellings as in much of inner 

London? 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  That is a very good segue onto our next section, which is safety and 

security.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  This is all very exciting stuff but human beings, being what they are, are 

concerned about privacy, about safety and also about their own personal privacy and safety.  What are 

the safety and security risks and how can they be mitigated?  Perhaps we can start with you, Henry. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  If we talk about 

droids, our robots have nine cameras around the front and back.  They have sophisticated obstacle 

detection so that they are not bumping into things.  We are collecting video of the environment 

because the robot has to map an area before it can drive autonomously.  One thing we did not mention 

is that of course the robot is driving autonomously the majority of the time but it always has a human in 

the loop.  Unlike self-driving cars, we never want 100% autonomous driving, which is an important 

point.  We will always have a remote operator that can take control of our robot at any time.  At the 

moment, if our robot gets into a situation that it cannot figure out itself or it is tampered with, that 

Page 23



 

 
 

footage can be banked and then analysed to determine whether this is something that we need to talk 

to the authorities about or not. 

 

All the other footage is a complete waste of disk space, basically, in all honesty.  We have our own data 

protection and privacy policies which adhere to the data protection and privacy policies in every single 

jurisdiction that we operate in.  Therefore, there is nothing to be concerned about from a pedestrian 

standpoint. 

 

One other thing worth mentioning is, when the human is taking control of the robot, what can they 

see?  Imagine in the future - we already have smaller versions of this - a call centre of humans just 

taking control of robots.  That is what we are going to have in the future when one human can be 

taking control of a number of robots at the same time.  However, the top third of their vision is blurred 

and so they can only see what they need to make that decision.  It might be whether it is safe to cross 

the road right now.  It might be that the pavement is blocked and so it needs to find an alternative 

route.  We are not picking up personal data.  We cannot identify faces and things like that. 

 

Our actual cameras and the entire cost of our robot is very low cost.  Feeding back into some of the 

economics analysis that was spoken about earlier, you cannot offer £1 or £2 delivery if you have a really 

expensive robot and so every part of our robot is very inexpensive.  It is the software where the value is 

and that is where the money goes.  That even feeds into the cameras on the robot and so it is not a 

concern. 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  On drones, one of the things we have started is engaging with the Information 

Commissioner’s Office and they have a code of practice for CCTV which includes now drones as well.  It 

is not law yet but, clearly, the guidance is in place and so there is no legal issue.  There are issues about 

enforcement 

 

One of the proposals is what they call privacy by design, which is when you build camera systems that 

automatically do not collect identifiable information.  You have face masking and things like that built 

into the system and so, if you do have cameras on the drone, then you do not capture faces.  Clearly, 

that is a design system issue which regulation can enforce.  It is difficult to enforce after the event if 

somebody wants to collect personal data.  It does not stop people flying drones into the city that are 

not behaving correctly, but, for any sensible operation, that can be easily dealt with.  Safety is a 

different issue. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  That is great.  Of course, these drones and droids can be used for the delivery 

of contraband items and they have been used in the past.  That is a huge risk also.  How do we prevent 

that sort of thing happening? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  For droids, we 

have not delivered any contraband yet -- 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  That we know of. 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  Yes.  Our robots 

are operated only by trusted third parties and so, again, we do not sell the robots.  You cannot buy a 

Page 24



 

 
 

robot if you wanted to do whatever you wanted to do with it.  We only lease them or rent them to 

businesses at the moment.  That is one thing. 

 

Secondly, we know what is inside of the robot.  We have cameras.  We have weight sensors and things 

like that.  We know that if the robot has maybe gone off path or off track, it is immediately alerting up 

to the human operator who is in the loop to determine if something is wrong. 

 

It is a very valid concern but we do not see it being associated with our droids.  With aerial drones, you 

can buy them off the shelf and it is definitely a different question. 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  Certainly, for a professional service, it is fairly easy to stop them doing the wrong thing and to 

build into them what are called geofencing areas, which prevent them going in certain areas.  The 

European Commission and the UK Government are looking at specific techniques to do that. 

 

For the drone that you would buy in a toy shop, it is completely different.  It is very difficult to impose 

geofencing but there are ways of creating and enforcing drone no-go areas.  That has a cost, but there 

are simple things like nets that you can put over prisons, which I am not sure why we are not doing to 

stop access by drones to prisons.  There are other electronic techniques that can be used to inhibit 

drone access to certain sensitive areas. 

 

From that point of view, you have some protection but authorities need to take it seriously because 

drones could be used for potentially very damaging uses if people wanted to. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  I have a few 

thoughts on all of this. 

 

There is a lot of work being done on air traffic management for drones and so we are still a bit unclear 

as to how this will pan out, but one possibility is that drones will be confined to a network of skyways.  

People just imagine at the moment that drones will fly anywhere and therefore you will be able to get a 

direct delivery which will minimise the distance travelled and a lot of the cost calculations are based on 

that assumption.  Of course, that is not necessarily so.  People can object to drones overflying their 

property, for example, and then, clearly, as Tony [Henley] just mentioned, there will be a lot of areas 

over which drones should not fly and geofencing can then be used to ensure they do not stray into 

those areas. 

 

Another worry is the possibility that drones would be hacked and that they could then be made to crash 

or they could have bombs or whatever.  You can construct all sorts of nightmarish scenarios of drones 

being used in football stadiums to drop devices.  There is a huge range of potential malicious uses of 

drones, some of which could be regulated against, I am sure, but there would still always be some 

loopholes. 

 

We can also reverse the causality here and think of the vulnerability of the drones themselves.  If they 

were to become a major mode of online order delivery, then we might have potentially valuable things 

being delivered.  What is the risk that they will be stolen?  If the drone is operating autonomously - 

right at the start Tony mentioned that currently they have to be used in line of sight, but if they are 

going to develop as a viable means of delivery they are going to have to start operating autonomously - 

and then when they land at someone’s home, how do you know it is going to be the right place?  It 

Page 25



 

 
 

could accidentally go to the wrong location.  Someone could steal the goods on board.  There could 

also be a denial of receipt.  Somebody could say, “We never actually received the product”, and if there 

is no one there to supervise that operation, then they could possibly get away with that.  There are a 

whole range of things. 

 

I would like to return to the point that Henry [Harris-Burland] mentioned about social acceptance 

because that is just as important for drones as it is for droids.  Although they are not as conspicuous 

because they are not running up and down the pavement, nevertheless they are noisy and I suspect 

many people for environmental reasons will object if the sky starts to fill with drones.  I call them 

‘robotic wasps’ because they are going to be operating within a height range.  I think they cannot be 

below about 50 metres and not above 150 metres and so there is a zone above properties or roads 

where they will operate and they will still be audible at that range. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Great.  Thank you, Professor McKinnon.   

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  If I can pick up on one thing there, one of the things that will probably be necessary is a route 

structure that tries to minimise overflight of population density so that, on a Sunday afternoon, you will 

not fly over the park but at night you might.  It is that type of idea so that the route structure would be 

adjusted to deal with or to try to minimise the nuisance issues, which is fairly easy to do if you have a 

sophisticated system to do that. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  I just want to have a look at Transport for London’s (TfL) 

role because they are going to come on afterwards.  

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, about TfL, I understand that the two regulatory bodies that look after drones 

and droids are the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) and the DfT, but here in London what do you see as 

the role of TfL functioning?  Can TfL play a role in promoting drones and droids on the positive side 

and what measures does TfL need to put in place on the regulatory side?  Is it able to do that?  Is that 

the role of TfL?  How do you see TfL getting involved in the future development of drones and droids? 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  There are two areas immediately.  One is designating no-go zones, which could be done 

today. These can be fed into a system that the UK National Air Traffic Services (NATS), the high-

airspace ATC provider, has developed, drone users can download the no-go areas and any other 

restrictions (that can be permanent or temporary) into their operations so that they know the limited 

operation zones.  That is something you could sensibly think about. 

 

The other thing might be drone roadways or airways to actually say, “We are happy for drones to take 

these routes”, potentially, again, time limited or time constrained so that at certain times of the day or 

night you are happy for drones to operate there, subject to all the other safety constraints that the CAA 

will put on them, and also areas where you would rather not have drones flying.  That would link into 

helicopter airways and things like that, which we need to keep separate. 

 

The other thing is this idea of- a London-based traffic control facility for drones if there are going to be 

serious numbers.  I share the concerns of Alan [McKinnon] that there are good reasons why the 

Page 26



 

 
 

numbers of delivery drones may be limited but the manufacturers and the suppliers are very keen to do 

this and believe they can make some money out of it, and so there will be pressure to do that.  You 

could have a system builds a concept that says, “We know how we want to manage our local airspace”, 

because at the moment the current high-altitude airspace control stops at the level we are talking 

about for drone operations.  There is no control -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  It is 150 metres. 

 

Tony Henley (Chairman of the Royal Aeronautical Society Unmanned Aircraft Systems 

Group):  -- other than the fact that single-engine aircraft are not allowed to be less than 6,000 feet - 

or whatever the number is - over London.  That airspace is, in a sense, yours for the time being if 

nobody else claims it and so you might want to think about how that should be managed.  There is a lot 

of work going on  looking at UTM systems.  I will just put in a plug.  We have a conference that is 

covering some of that next week with the Royal Aeronautical Society.  There is a lot of activity in that 

area and you should be aware of that at least. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Great.  Thanks.  Would anyone else like to comment? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  For droids, we 

call ourselves a ‘local delivery robot’.  We are in localised neighbourhoods and these different areas are 

different to one another.  We at the moment go on a borough-by-borough level.  If we take London as 

an example, we have contacted and have been in touch with all 32 boroughs but now we have 

permissions in five boroughs in London to operate.  We set guidelines, we work with the borough and 

we tailor our approach to specific areas.  That is really important.  Some companies take one of two 

routes as, let us say, a start-up or a fast-moving company.  They either ask for permission or they ask 

for forgiveness.  We definitely are along the track of asking for permission.  We engage with every local 

authority that we operate in and we feel that we want to be part of the community.  That means 

slightly different rules and regulations for different places. 

 

For example, I have Southwark in front of me here and our memorandum of understanding (MOU) talks 

about things like speed limits, weight limits, payload sizes, hours of operation, all sorts of things like 

that, insurance liabilities.  Insurance is the big one.  Who is responsible and all that sort of thing?  We 

have all of that covered.  It is really important to make sure everyone feels comfortable when we are 

introducing new technology and we really care about making sure that everyone feels comfortable 

when we are going into a new area.  Definitely, TfL can assist with those things. 

 

Professor Alan McKinnon (Professor of Logistics, Kuehne Logistics University):  First of all, a 

bit of a compliment to the freight unit within TfL.  I am now based in Germany and I do a lot of work 

internationally.  London is perceived externally as a laboratory for a lot of logistics and freight-related 

experiments, some of which have worked and some of which have not. 

 

In maintaining that reputation, one thing that TfL could do is to look at the logistical implications of 

these new modes of delivery.  A lot of the work that has been done is on the technology and very little 

work has been done, so far, on the commercial application and all the logistical constraints on their 

operation.  You would expect me as an academic to say that we need more research, I suppose, but 

there would be a role for TfL to do some of that work and to see how these technologies would fit into 

existing logistics systems.  Where are the vehicles or the drones coming from and going to?  The 

preliminary work I have done in trying to look at the traffic implications of this is a pretty modest piece 

Page 27



 

 
 

of work and that needs to be researched in a bit more detail.  To do that one, would have to have 

access to the large amounts of data that TfL currently has.  Therefore, one of my recommendations 

would be to commission research. 

 

The other point I would make on drones is that for the foreseeable future drones doing logistics-type 

work like delivering parcels will be a very small percentage of the drones in the air.  The vast majority of 

drones are going to be recreational, which are probably outside the remit of TfL and, therefore, it is 

more for the regulatory authorities like the CAA and NATS, really, to deal with that rather than for TfL.  

Looking at the transport implications, we are still at an early stage in the process and it is research that 

we need for that purpose. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  That was great.  Could I ask Henry?  Would you be able to 

share the MOU with Southwark with the Committee? 

 

Henry Harris-Burland (Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies):  Of course. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  That is very kind.  All right.  Thank you very much indeed, 

gentlemen, for giving up your time.  I am not sure if we have not raised more questions than answers in 

this session, but that is a good thing.  What is happening now is very exciting and is going to be very 

interesting, but there are a lot of areas where there are big question marks, which, clearly, we need to 

get answers to.  Thank you very much for your time.  We are very grateful to you.  Thank you. 

 
 

Page 28



 

 

 

           Appendix 2 
 

Transport Committee – Tuesday, 10 October 2017 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – Future Transport 
 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Can I welcome Lauren first of all, Lauren Sager Weinstein, who is the 

Chief Data Officer for Transport for London (TfL), welcome, and of course Michael Hurwitz, Director of 

Transport Innovation, TfL.  We were talking about you earlier, you may have heard, and there are going to 

be a number of challenges for TfL when it comes to autonomous and semi-autonomous vehicles.  We 

would like to explore that with you. 

 

I would just like to start first of all.  Could you explain how TfL monitors technological trends and plans its 

response to potential disruption? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Thank you for inviting 

me along; it is an important set of topics and an interesting one, and I am pleased to contribute to the 

inquiry. 

 

There are two key principles that have to be adopted in looking for trends, and I wonder if it might be 

worth elucidating some of these principles with how we dealt with the emergence of dockless cycle hire 

recently.  The first one is very active engagement and engagement fundamentally before implementation.  

For us, one of our key roles is partly as a regulator, but it is also as the strategic transport authority, so 

there is a responsibility for us to look out to the market and to understand what might be happening and 

to see how any new developments in the market can be shaped to be consistent with the goals set out in 

the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy.  It goes both ways.  We have to look out to the market; we have to 

find ways to encourage any potential entrants or those people interested in London to engage with us. 

 

On the dockless cycle hire example, we were talking to the main players in that area, we had been reaching 

out, we had already started to develop a set of principles that we wanted to communicate to the market.  

We have already started working with the boroughs.  Another key feature of being in London is that 

engagement is not just us in TfL; we have to be very sensitive to the needs of the various constituents 

within London.  The key thing is to understand, essentially, if you have the private market or the 

innovators on the one hand, they will have a set of interests.  On the other, we have to represent the 

interests of Londoners to try and make sure that we essentially assert the rights of the public. 

 

The aim of the engagement is to find those areas in the middle where there is a common ground where we 

get the benefits of the innovative ideas in the market but we also ensure that we can uphold the interests 

of inclusion, openness for all, accessible services, etc.  The first one is engagement and we did do that and, 

to the credit of some of the operators, some of the operators had already started to engage in some of the 

boroughs, Mobike with their trials in Ealing, Hackney with Ofo, and Urbo also expected this month with 

Waltham Forest.  The first principle is engagement before implementation. 

 

The second principle is to progress in a way that allows you capacity to learn and trial before you go to 

scale as the operator, but also as the regulator, before you set regulations in stone.  Therefore, you need 

to have a way that you can trial and learn because, with all of these new technologies, it is very hard to 

predict, beyond a feasibility study, what will happen when a new service actually makes contact with 

Page 29



 

 

 

consumers, what will happen on the network, beyond what you find if you are doing it as a desk study.  A 

key feature is to have the engagement, to do the trialling, and for a regulator you have to do pre-

regulation or anticipatory regulatory steps.  With dockless cycle hire, we worked with the London boroughs 

to produce a code of practice and we have explicitly said it has to be iterative, that document: it has to 

learn from what we see in the trials.  If you are too quick to set things in concrete you can create other 

unwanted consequences. 

 

Therefore, the key things are those two, engagement before activity; and to progress in a way that allows 

you capacity to learn before you set the regulatory environment in stone. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  A comment on that? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  That really covers it.  This is 

where being mindful as things go ahead and thinking about this from, not only the technology side, but 

what the implications are. A lot of this comes down to that, because technology is important and 

technology is changing, but it is really what is going to make the changes to the business practices and 

commercial practices. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  With the oBike example, there were issues there, were there not, particularly in Tower 

Hamlets where it seemed that oBike had just left a load of bikes around the place and then they ended up 

all over the place.  Clearly there have been some issues.  What have you learned from that experience? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, there were issues 

with oBike.  They did not tell anyone they were coming; they launched without a helpline, without a 

proven operating model, without an understanding of the complexity of boroughs and the powers of the 

transport authority, and therefore there were issues and it caused a number of boroughs, and us as well, 

significant concerns.  We ended up asking them to remove the bikes and they did.  We did not crack down 

immediately because we want to try to welcome innovation, and the fact is this is potentially something 

that could really increase access to cycling.  There are opportunities here.  You have to give somebody a 

chance, however, you cannot put the public at risk, and it got to the point where we felt we had to ask 

them to cease operations.  Now they have done that; they are now in much more active engagement with 

the boroughs, trying to mirror some of the approaches taken by some of the more collaborative operators.  

We will see what comes of it. 

 

The work that we have done in an advance about what the principles are, understanding what our 

highways powers are, us as the transport authority and the boroughs as a transport authority, the 

Highways Act was written in 1980, but it is our responsibility to assert the rights of the public on the 

highway and we are able to act if we think there is a risk of obstruction and danger.  We were able to do 

that and use that and I do not think oBike had understood that regime in London.  We were able to 

respond pretty quickly because we had already started the work with the boroughs on what ‘good’ looks 

like, what a ‘responsible operator’ looks like, and it was clear to us that was not the case with oBike. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We had Will Norman [Walking and Cycling Commissioner] in and he sat where you are 

now saying, “Please talk to TfL”.  That basically was his message. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  We have written a 

code of practice.  Exactly the first thing we say in that is you have to engage first; you have to engage with 

Page 30



 

 

 

us and I have to say the boroughs are particularly important, there are differences in the different 

boroughs and different requirements, but that is exactly the reason. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about Uber?  Uber has been a massively disruptive force in London.  What 

lessons have you learned from the emergence of Uber as a company? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  As you would expect 

me to say at the moment, I have some standard lines on Uber and we have to let that process run, so if I 

could just talk more generally rather than that specific case, because we have to let that regulatory process 

run? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Again, I am going to 

re-emphasise the points I made before, and I will add one more.  On engagement, I have heard the 

analogy before about permission versus forgiveness that Henry [Harris-Burland] from Starship mentioned 

in the previous session , you need to have a grown-up and open conversation in advance.  It is in 

everybody’s interests if you try to find that common ground where there is an environment created where 

innovation is possible but also protects the interests of people working, living, visiting a city.  You have to 

try to find that common ground and the most important thing is to do it up front. 

 

Also, there is a lesson again both ways, you have to trial and learn and test concepts before you go to full-

blown implementation.  It is not always possible to do that and you do not always have the regulatory 

environment to do that.  But the more you can have that conversation about what the issue is, for me it is 

never a productive conversation if somebody comes to us as a strategic authority to say, “We have some 

really exciting technology to test”, what we try to do is say, “Can we talk to you about the problems that 

we and the boroughs have in providing transport”, which can focus the innovation on the problems that 

we face as a city.  It is never the perfect system, but that leads you to better potential outcomes if 

somebody new wants to come to market. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I will not press you on Uber because I know why you cannot say too much, but it seems 

the problem comes where a company comes in that does not really engage or particularly want to 

necessarily play by the rules and that can leave you in a difficult situation, if a company just is not willing 

to engage in a sort of constructive way from the beginning. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, it presents 

additional challenges, but one of the things that I do, and I deliberately sit separately from the regulatory 

teams. Once you have pressed the regulatory button you have to follow the process, you have to make 

sure everybody plays by the rules.  It is a much more constructive space if you can talk before that.  I 

cannot stop people in instances doing things. 

 

The other thing I would say though, from that area, is that we operate according to the rules that we are 

given and the national frameworks in this area are set often by the Department for Transport (DfT), 

essentially for the old world.  The regulations were set in the 1970s and the 1990s, and the world of 

transport in those days was crudely speaking as follows: you had a car or you took a private hire vehicle or 

you took a bike, taxi, or you took a bus.  Those silos were the fundamentals upon which regulation is 

based. 

 

Page 31



 

 

 

If you are thinking about the future of transport by contrast you will now have different categories of 

transport: shared ownership, peer-to-peer car sharing, regular private hire vehicles and taxis, but shared 

taxis, the space between buses and taxis, which could be demand responsible transport, and then buses. 

All of that can also be changed in the longer term with the autonomous vehicles.  One of the key things is 

we have already asked the DfT if we can have certain additional powers in some areas, about the ability to 

cap or control cross-border licensing on Private Hire Vehicles. 

 

However, there is an interesting question for the DfT about what is the more fundamental review of that 

overall regulatory structure that they own to be a better fit for the future for the way the mobility 

landscape is changing. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  To what extent do drones and droids have the potential to take some of the freight 

traffic off London’s roads, considering the conversation we have had earlier in the first session? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  There were some very 

good points made before about how much is switchable and, if I could maybe add, some of the London 

data, because some of the issues about how many drones or droids would you need to replace a van that 

might be doing 80 packages a day, it is probably quite a lot.  Just in terms of potential congestion impact, 

there is one study that was done by the Royal Automobile Club (RAC) Foundation, it was published back in 

May by Professor Alan Braithwaite [LCP Consulting].  That put a figure of only about 10% of traffic in 

London, according to his calculations, is grocery and parcel delivery.  Therefore about 1.5% of London’s 

traffic is taken up by parcel and drone delivery.  There may be some opportunities, however I think the 

case is as yet unproven about whether significant expansion of drone or droids would take that many vans 

off the road. 

 

There are genuine opportunities.  You have asked specifically about freight, however, we are already using 

drones in some other areas. We have already, on London Underground (LU), started to use drones for 

looking at asset maintenance, we have already saved money by not having to put up expensive scaffolding 

and putting staff at risk in dangerous situations by using that.  The Metropolitan Police Service are already 

doing a trial with drones for surveillance, including out of line of sight.  They are about halfway through 

that trial right now.  Therefore, we do see opportunities; there may well be certain use cases where this 

could be attractive. 

 

One thing that was not mentioned earlier was the idea of a follower drone.  If somebody is not capable of 

carrying their own luggage or carrying their own shopping, you could have essentially your own mobile 

way of getting your goods to -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  To what extent are these things being looked at, because most of the conversation 

about drones feels like people saying, “Let us port them into our reality now”?  How far into the future are 

TfL looking?  Tom [Copley AM] made a comment about deliveries from your supermarket.  That is a hub 

situation.  That would be quite easy to do that.  You would stop hundreds of journeys surely, hundreds of 

journeys.  Why are these droids so small?  If they were larger, if TfL looked into the future, there will be at 

some point a droid will effectively be the size of a van.  We need to plan for that now because that needs 

charging infrastructure, etc. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, we are very 

actively looking at it.  The key thing is, does it need to be a drone or a droid to do that?  We have 

mentioned before about using technology where it can help, but is there a simpler way of consolidating 

Page 32



 

 

 

deliveries?  Does it need to be a drone or a person?  From your comments earlier, you may already have 

looked at some of the models on freight where you can have a van that goes to a certain area with a 

number of packages, it could be a droid that takes those further, it could also be an individual.  Therefore, 

they could be part of the mix, we do very actively look at it and our planning horizon is out to 2041.  We 

are very actively engaging - genuinely nothing to do with this Committee meeting happening today - my 

team was talking to Henry’s [Harris-Burland, Vice-President of Marketing, Starship Technologies] team 

yesterday to understand what the potential could be.  We have to try to find a way of making it consistent. 

 

The one thing that I would add though is that, where we want to shape these technologies, we want it to 

be consistent with the principles that we are setting out in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS).  It could 

be very convenient to do so, but we would raise questions: “does this stop people walking more?  Are we 

going to create people who are sedentary and just wait at home for everything just to come to them?  We 

set very explicit and ambitious targets on active travel in the draft Transport Strategy. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It seems that the technology and its development is being looked at as a threat.  Are 

we investigating opportunities enough?  How far does TfL get to decide if I want to sit at home and wait 

for my parcel?  That might be the way my universe works. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  It is absolutely about 

balance.  You have to look at the opportunities in the same way as the risks, and if -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Sorry to interrupt you, but are you having a look at the full social impact?  My 

colleague Caroline [Russell AM] here made one comment about people who are disabled who may 

appreciate the help, and then at the other end of it you have Tom [Copley AM]’s comment about how you 

could just increase the convenience of the world and cut down some of the emissions because we are 

integrating these things properly.  Then the speaker beforehand talked about the impact on jobs.  Could 

this be providing jobs, a reduction in emissions to London, support people.  Are we looking at the whole 

thing, because if we build it piecemeal then we will only get some of the uplift, will we not, and all of the 

problems. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, absolutely, that 

is why we are here.  You have to look at it in the round.  I think actually we are agreeing. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  We are.  What I am asking is, how would I see TfL is doing that work?  What piece of 

paper, website, briefing, whatever it is, what could I see that you are looking at it to look at the whole 

thing so that we get the maximum benefit?  London’s journey to date has been lots of little villages that 

have grown together and what we want to do is make London’s next step into the future cohesive, it 

would have all of this planned in as far as possible.  Where is that work? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  You have commented 

that is not mentioned in the MTS.  The MTS is in consultation form.  I will take that as a good piece of 

feedback and we can review whether we talk about that, the opportunities of technology.  We do talk 

about that specifically in chapter 6 of the MTS, talking about how we look at how technologies can have 

an impact, and new business models, how they impact across the full range of our operations.  We can talk 

about whether we emphasise that further or whether we demonstrate that further.  However, I can give 

you an assurance, that is why we are here.  Both of us spend a lot of time, Lauren on the technology and 

data side, me on the new business model side, and it is about making sure it integrates.  All of the 

comments, all of the angles and perspectives you have said, from emissions, from social inclusion, to 

Page 33



 

 

 

reduction in freight miles, to how it fits with the Healthy Streets agenda, that is how we look at all of this.  

Therefore, I absolutely agree with you; but I am interested if you think we need to be more explicit and 

demonstrable in some of the activities we do.  Hopefully, in the remaining time, I will be able to tell you 

about quite a lot of the things we are doing in some of these areas. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I look forward to it because it just seems to me that TfL’s position should not be anti-

technology. I am not suggesting that it is, that is for you to prove that it is not, however sometimes, 

reading the MTS, everything that is talked about is a threat.  Autonomous cars were talked about as a 

threat, in my opinion, and I just would like to think that this is an opportunity for London to design the 

jobs that are coming down the line, get a greener economy, because we thought about it now, because we 

are going to miss out on these things because we build them all piecemeal.  That is enough for me, 

Chairman. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just to pick up on the point about the MTS, drones and droids are not mentioned in 

the MTS.  Why is that? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Again, I will take that 

as feedback on the consultation.  The current draft of the Strategy essentially was grouping all future 

mobility developments together and the principle set out there is they all have a role to play, however, 

some of them present more risk than others, and you have to get that balanced approach.  We can review 

whether we need to have a discussion about it.  It is interesting though.  We heard from some experts 

earlier today, a lot of it really is not known.  The potential is not known.  The evidence base for the 

Strategy was one of the key things; it needed to be underpinned by confirmed evidence.  Therefore, there 

is a question about how much you have a generic discussion about knowns and how much you base your 

strategy and deliverables on the best knowledge. 

 

It is absolutely on our horizon, our fundamental role in the strategic authority part of our being has to look 

for this and it has to understand what the opportunities are, how it could be integrated.  However, there is 

a question for us in the final document about whether we need to have a more explicit discussion of some 

of these less-known areas that exist on the horizon. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Good.  In terms of evidence, we have heard evidence today and there is clearly some 

evidence, particularly on droids, from overseas.  I forget what the statistics were, however it seemed in 

other countries they are being used, not on a huge scale, but certainly on a significant level.  Therefore, it 

might be that there is some evidence there from overseas that could be used to underpin it.  However, it 

sounds like you are taking it all on board. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  We can take it away; 

we can see how much we want to have that discussion in the final version. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  I will move on to autonomous vehicles then.  What are the potential risks 

and benefits of autonomous vehicles for London? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  The first thing I 

wanted to say is that I know often the debate in this area jumps straight to fully autonomous. However, 

what is often called Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS): there is a very significant potential for 

that for a number of reasons.  The ability to understand what is going on in real time on the network, 

whether there is a driver in the vehicle or not is extremely valuable, to understand what is going on with air 

Page 34



 

 

 

pollution is extremely valuable, how to optimise traffic flow.  A really important one is about the potential 

for reducing road danger.  Just to offer one data point, if you look at the fatality statistics on London 

streets, every one of those is a tragedy, however it is moving in the right direction.  Last year there were 

116 fatalities reported and if you compare that to the 2004-2009 average the biggest reduction in the 

type of fatality between 2004-2009 and last year was people inside a vehicle.  That reduced: the previous 

average was 49.4; last year it was 10. 

 

If you look at fatalities in terms of pedestrians, there has also been a reduction, it was 96 in the 2004-

2009; last year it was 61.  That is still 37% reduction, but it just shows you essentially it is the combination 

of passive and active safety that protects the individuals inside the vehicle, it is that technology.  Some of 

those are autonomous systems, autonomous braking, anti-lock braking, if you slam your foot down on the 

brake in the car you are no longer in control of the brake, the computer system takes over and pumps the 

brake.  There is a whole series of driver assistance technologies that have a genuine potential for reducing 

road danger.  Things like automatic emergency braking or pedestrian alerts or indeed potentially redesign 

of the outside of vehicles, many of these things we are trying to think about for the new bus safety 

standard, which will come into effect next year, before you get to the fully autonomous equation.  I think 

there is a significant number of opportunities on incremental levels of both connectivity and autonomy.  I 

can talk about fully autonomous vehicles as well. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just quickly, in terms of this reduction in killed or seriously injured (KSI), how much of 

that can be put down to the technology and how much is that because either congestion is getting cars to 

go slower or because boroughs are implementing slower road speeds at 20-mile per hour zones, for 

example? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  I do not have that 

breakdown to hand.  All road safety is a function of improvements to engineering or enforcement or 

education, and I do not have the data to hand about what is the assignation of that.  I do know that 

nationally in the United Kingdom (UK) the assessment is that 94% of all road accidents have an element of 

human error.  I do not have that specific breakdown, but we can be quite sure that, particularly if it is 

considered as an enhancement to capability, there will be benefits to be derived from that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about the potential for fully autonomous vehicles? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Fully autonomous, 

fundamentally it really depends on three key parameters. That is what is the vehicle that is fully 

autonomous, what is the business model or the use case under which it is used, and in what policy 

environment?  If autonomous vehicles are just individual cars, like the one you have today but just driving 

themselves around, privately owned and privately used with absolutely no constraint whatsoever, that may 

have safety benefits but it is almost certainly going to be bad for congestion.  It is a crude analogy, but 

you want to avoid a situation where you can go shopping and, because it is cheaper than parking, you 

press a button and you say, “Just drive around until I come back”.  That would not be good for the 

network. 

 

By contrast, if you have, for example, a shared car or even a minivan that is operating under a service 

model, which is deliberately trying to funnel people who normally commute by car into a transport hub, 

and with somehow a targeted set of operation that could be through pricing or through funding measures, 

then that gives you a whole load of opportunities.  Not only do you get the safety benefits, you could 

Page 35



 

 

 

provide an alternative to people with private car in use, potential congestion benefits, but also there is the 

opportunity of communicating with the vehicles to collectively optimise the way things flow. 

 

The other thing I would say is that this is a really important kind of capability. Further opportunities are 

that London is great in the tech world and these are a really key high-value set of skills and the more you 

can get intelligent traffic management, vehicle design, user interface, applying some of the great skills we 

have now in fin tech or the gaming area to this, there is also an opportunity for building capabilities. 

 

The short answer is, it does depend, and you can see situations where, through some versions, it would 

present real challenges, but on others it gives great opportunity to make the network flow more efficiently. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  How do we end up with autonomous vehicles, the situation where they are benefitting 

us by not putting extra cars on the road, there is more of a shared ownership model, what practical steps 

can be done to encourage that? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  I will take it in two 

steps.  I will go back to the principles we were talking about earlier, about engagement and trialling, and 

then working out in the longer term.  In the short term, we have quite a lot of activity to understand what 

the service models are, what the technical requirements are, what the potential impacts on the network are 

going to be. Some of it is just desk-based modelling; we are doing some of that already working with 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology on some of the conceptual modelling on the impacts of AVs.  There 

are a number of central Government-funded projects that are allowing us to learn more about what the 

potential is.  One of the projects is called Driven, which is run by a company that spun out of Oxford 

University called Oxbotica.  There is also a major insurer involved in this.  I think their aim is that by 2019 

they will have half a dozen vehicles that will be able to drive from Oxford to London. 

 

However, the really interesting thing about that for us, first and foremost we have to make sure it runs in a 

safe way, any trials at the moment, the requirement in the UK is to have a safety driver there ready to take 

over, you cannot have fully driverless vehicles right now.  However, that gives us a fascinating insight into 

what is happening on the network in real time.  XL Catlin, a major international insurer, is also involved in 

that because they want to know what are the situations on the road that lead to crashes being more likely 

and incidents being more likely.  That is extremely important for us given our congestion and network 

management responsibilities. 

 

Another trial that is happening is a project called StreetWise with a company called FiveAI.  They are 

exploring, and we are exploring with them, what could the service models be.  They came to us, it is a 

good example of engagement, to say, “What problems do you want to solve?”  We said, “Could we shape 

this to provide alternatives to commuting by car?” and they are seeing whether you could have a demand-

responsive autonomous-capable service that would funnel people into transport hubs. 

 

There are a lot more, and I am happy to provide more information about that, about how we are trying to 

look at what the requirements are on the infrastructure side as well, what we are going to need. 

 

In the longer term, there are a number of key policy requirements that we are going to have to think 

about.  In the MTS draft we talk about the future of road pricing.  I think for me it is a really interesting 

question about how we disincentivise an inefficient use of road space and empty vehicles being around 

there, so an interesting question for us.  Are we going to be able to know when vehicles are empty or not?  

How would we get to find that out?  As I say, what you do not really want to have is vehicles going around 

Page 36



 

 

 

empty on spec.  Similarly, you do not want to have mobile products doing the rounds just in case 

somebody wants to have them delivered at a certain time.  Therefore, we need to have a really serious 

discussion about the future of pricing and how autonomous vehicles fit in that.  We want to get the 

benefits of it, but we cannot let them go unfettered. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think then that basically road pricing is going to be key?  Is that the main lever 

by which TfL could essentially regulate this and ensure that you do not have loads of autonomous vehicles 

just driving around empty?  Is road pricing going to be the key to that? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  It is one of the keys, 

as is planning, as is how you design the future streets, how you design the use of the kerb.  It is certainly 

one of the very important ones, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What legal powers do you have over autonomous vehicles at the moment and what 

powers would you like to have in an ideal world? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Some we have quite 

strong and extensive powers already, so those that allow us to do the congestion charge give us quite a lot 

of potential.  Some things are outwith our control.  Currently, it is with the DfT who in turn have to use 

international regulations that will approve or not a vehicle for use on the roads.  That is dealt with 

internationally right now and the UK currently applies European Union (EU) law to say what type of 

vehicle is allowed on the road. 

 

We need to have that discussion with DfT.  We have a pretty constructive relationship with them.  

Currently testing of these vehicles in the UK is dealt with by a code of practice.  We are in a very active 

discussion with them to talk about the next version of that code of practice because we need to make sure 

that we have that city perspective.  For me, I would say that a lot of that sits with DfT; also, as I mentioned 

before, we need to have that overall review of the future service models, think about the future mobility, 

not just taxis, buses, etc. 

 

I think there will be a strong argument for devolution or to have local powers and control for some of 

those because we need to be able to create a vibrant market that gives a good outcome to consumers, but 

we also need to be able to manage things in the city’s interest. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Finally from me, this might be one for Lauren, what are your projections of the scale of 

autonomous vehicles over the years? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Do you want me to? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, why do you not take that 

one? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  You see it in two 

phases.  I know that previous Committee meetings talked about the different levels of automation, one 

and two are here now, which is anti-lock brakes, level three is where the car can take over for certain 

periods of time, and then the more extreme one is levels four and five where either the vehicle is mostly in 

control or for level five it is completely in control. 

 

Page 37



 

 

 

Around the turn of the decade is when you are going to start to see level two and three becoming more 

prevalent.  Thereafter, the more ambitious of the providers, some of the automotive companies are talking 

about their trial deployments from 2021; that kind of timescale onwards, and that is trial, relatively limited, 

they call them certain operational design domains.  They make certain use cases.  From the mid-2020s, 

much of it depends on the pace of regulation; it is hard to put a number on it.  What I would say is that 

the incremental autonomy and connectivity is going to become pretty much ubiquitous, however, that is 

before you get to full levels of autonomy, I think you will see from the turn of the decade certain use cases 

where it will become apparent and that is the stuff that we are really interested in,is what could they be in 

London.  Again, we want to avoid the situation we were talking about where somebody just comes and 

does something that is disruptive.  We are very actively engaging, trying to work out what those best use 

cases for London could be. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just before I move on to apps and data, which will be for Lauren, I just wanted to 

pick up on one thing about the autonomous vehicles, just on these timescales.  You said by the mid-2020s 

increasing autonomy is going to be pretty ubiquitous.  We have seen with Uber the negative on our city of 

increased congestion, unexpected levels of vehicles being registered, dropping in bus ridership, which is 

bad for our city.  I am just wondering, are you actively pursuing the risks to the Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

and the vision that he has for more walking and cycling and less traffic on the roads so that we use our 

space for the things that are important to the city rather than just for moving traffic and hopefully cut 

down on the rising number of serious injuries that are happening to pedestrians and cyclists on our 

streets?  Is there a sort of an active anticipatory programme that is going on to second-guess the bad stuff 

or the risks? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  You second-guess the 

bad stuff and you try to make the most of the good stuff.  But, yes, absolutely, some of that horizon-

scanning is what we do.  You mentioned specifically about autonomous, just to clarify, it is the lower levels 

of autonomy that is going to be ubiquitous and the higher levels of autonomy are less certain.  However, 

to give you a practical example, I have given quotes of some of the trials that we are now involved in, they 

are not being led by us, we will be a party to some of those because we need to make sure they happen in 

a safe way, however we also think we can learn from them. 

 

The conversations for that is that when, for example, the Department for Transport and the Department 

for Business Innovation and Skills1 put out their funding calls, we always go to say, “Look, if you are 

thinking of trialling stuff in London you need to talk to us because we need to take it to the question 

where it is not just a question of coming to test the technology for technology’s sake”.  There are benefits 

to that because you get the skills and the capability, which are of potentially very high value, but we shape 

the projects that are going to be here to make sure it is addressing some of our problems as well.  

Therefore, the kind of debate I will have with a number of organisations that come to us is to say, look, a 

solution where you have an autonomous vehicle that allows people to be more mobile where they are 

previously less mobile, either through disability or age, or if you are providing people a route to a station 

that is hard to access, we will talk about demand-responsive transport soon I think and we can talk more 

about that then, those are good outcomes.  If you are providing something that is probably going to drag 

people off a bus and spread them out into more vehicles that is not the kind of service model we are 

                                                 
1 Now the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. 

Page 38



 

 

 

looking at.  If you are going to provide somebody an alternative to walking where walking or cycling is a 

really good option that is where we have to try and shape those business models. 

 

Therefore, at the moment, the beauty of this market right now is it is malleable.  The business model is not 

yet set and if we take that active role to reach out to the people thinking of markets, the fact is London is 

iconic globally, if we can demonstrate how this can be integrated with the transport it could be a winner 

for both of us.  Shaun [Bailey AM] and Caroline [Russell AM], I hear both sides of the coin, we have to get 

both of them, we need to look for the opportunities, but we have to balance that with ensuring a 

consistency with the objectives.  However, I do not see an inherent tension, there is a natural need to find 

a balance, and we have to find the mid path -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I certainly would not want anyone to think I am against technology because I think 

it can be used for good in a really positive way and for the good of the city.  However, it is making sure 

that we anticipate the risks that were not anticipated with those earlier examples of tech coming into the 

city. 

 

Anyway, moving on properly to apps and data, and, Lauren, for you, just to start off, how does TfL 

support smartphone app developers to provide innovative transport services?” 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Can I just start perhaps by 

putting a little bit of context about the way we think of data, because if we think about data, it is not data 

in and of itself and it is not necessarily only for the sake of data.  We are using data to solve problems.  We 

are using it within our own sort of sphere within the work that I do in terms of co-ordinating data work 

within TfL.  Then we are also using it externally and this is where we are using data to power these 

smartphone apps to help people move around the city. 

 

If we think about this then, we have to stop and say, right, what is the fundamental question that we are 

trying to solve?  It really goes back to some of the discussions we had earlier, which is about how can the 

information we are providing be an enabler to better transport outcomes?  Therefore, when we look at the 

open data that we are providing, the aim of this is to get a better and efficient use, and a better customer 

experience for Londoners moving around the city.  This is where we work in partnership with the developer 

community to provide the information and that is seen in various feeds that we have through our unified 

application programming interface (API) so that the developers can take the data and turn it into products 

that will be useful for customers.  We have seen a huge benefit in this and we have been a champion of 

open data and making this data open and freely available and encouraging our developers to use this. 

 

In doing so, we get benefits; our customers get a benefit that we see.  We also learn.  A lot of the 

discussion today has been about how can we learn quickly from technologies and this is where we see the 

way that developers are using information and providing it to customers and in terms of the ways of 

presenting information to our customers that they can find useful.  We can take that information back so 

that we can understand how data can be useful and new data feeds that we can provide.  It really comes 

down to why do we do this; it is to provide solutions for problems, and it can either be externally for 

customers to get better information and then also internally for how we run a more efficient system with 

data. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Certainly, I am sure everyone has things like Citymapper which have completely 

transformed travelling around the city because it just makes it possible to plan journeys because it is all in 

one place and you can move from tube to bus.  All of us have to travel to all sorts of places all over 

Page 39



 

 

 

London, and that kind of service is incredibly useful.  The app developers, with this open data, they have 

an absolute gift there, they are able to produce products and power businesses.  To what extent are they 

giving that data back to you?  I am thinking in particular things like, I know DriveNow have a lot of data 

that shows the journeys that are made with those one-way car hires, and that presumably maps out places 

where there is not enough public transport at the moment.  How much are you taking that data and using 

it for planning new services? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  This is a journey and we are 

starting, so if you were to look back on where we were, initially it was really very one-sided, we pushed out 

everything we got, not much back.  However, we then, in our partnership discussions with the 

communities, and all the developers who have been able to say, “OK, we are trying to solve problems, you 

are trying to build businesses and solve problems, and there is a real win-win here in terms of how we can 

work together on this”.  Therefore, what we have been working towards is a model where we are getting 

some information back and that can range, in terms of the information that you could get back, from one 

extreme it is helpful just to know statistics about how many people are downloading particular apps, to the 

other extreme it is getting the aggregated information about usage patterns and that sort of work we are 

beginning to explore how do we do this with two-way partnerships with some of the developer community 

on that.  That is where you would see benefits in terms of getting this aggregated data back, in terms of 

patterns.  However, what is important to keep in mind is that what we take back is aggregated information 

rather than individual personal information because what we have to do is keep a very hard line between 

what is shared, so what is shared back to us is patterns. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  However that aggregated data is allowing you to make more intelligent planning 

decisions. 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, so what you would want 

to do is you want to start, particularly on the road network where this is where there are some 

opportunities, where we really would benefit from more information.  Therefore, we have done some work 

with Waze, for example, where we have been able to take information patterns back so we can understand 

disruptions on our network.  If that gives our controllers better information on how to run our network 

more efficiently it is a win for everybody.  However, this is really where we need to go back to the 

fundamental questions and if the fundamental question we are trying to solve is, “How do we unlock 

mobility?” on the road side there is certainly an opportunity for getting information that would help us. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You mean connecting up then with Scoot and the traffic light systems? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, so, again, it is 

understanding very precisely where you might change and how you might change, because if you are not 

going to take an action on it, and it is really interesting in terms of pattern analysis, however you are not 

going to spend as much time as if you were going to be able to change the way you are running your 

traffic system.  Therefore, if we can identify where we would change signal timings, for example, that does 

provide us with a way we are going to run the road network. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is interesting, because Waze is one of the red-flag companies to anyone who is 

interested in trying to get more people walking and cycling because they tend to direct people down side 

roads and streets that should be quiet and not full of lots of through traffic.  It is a kind of rat-runners app 

and it allows people to drive through back streets as if they knew the area really well, therefore it can have 

disadvantages for communities living there who experience more traffic, more difficulty crossing the road 

Page 40



 

 

 

when they are taking their kids to school or just to get to the local shop.  That has negative outcomes in 

terms of people making those daily journeys on foot and by bike, which is one of the things the Mayor 

says he wants to achieve.  You are suggesting that there could be some good that comes out of that Waze 

data? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  This is where we have to go 

back to the engagement question and say, “OK, we really want to use technology to unlock the outcomes.  

How do we have conversations with the developer communities and talk about this in terms of, not 

starting from data per se, but starting from the outcomes?”  We have begun to have some of these 

discussions and if we think about the way we communicate, there is a tech side and a very sort of specific 

techy data discussion to be had.  However, before you get there, it is really about the shared objectives 

and thinking about the MTS and trying to get that alignment. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think that maybe TfL should encourage the app developers to have public 

purpose, good transport outcomes, at the heart of their business model and then they get your data 

sharing options?  Do you have any limits?  For instance, Waze I would see as a company whose app is not 

particularly helpful for the transport network for public transport, so should they have the same access to 

data, TfL data, public data, that belongs to Londoners, as a company who is doing something that has 

more public purpose to it, like Citymapper, which is enabling people to use public transport more 

effectively? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  That is a good question.  

What we started from is saying that we are just going to push this data out and we are going to provide 

some standards in terms of explaining how you present the data, that you are accurate about it, however, 

we have not so far got into vetting particular companies. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is not about vetting the companies, but it is about vetting the outcomes so that 

there is public purpose and good for London’s transport system that comes out of the use that people 

make of TfL’s data.  Because TfL’s data is hugely valuable and so I am just wondering if you are yet asking 

those questions about the outcomes that are coming from your giving that data to companies. 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  We certainly have been 

encouraging thinking about the mobility outcomes, however, the way that we have presented the data, it 

has been as a sign-up to the feeds and we encourage you to use them.  Certainly, we want to make sure 

that we are promoting sustainable transport, promoting public transport, and that is certainly something 

that is important. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Then just finally, in London, because we have an Oyster card that is pretty much 

mobility as a service anyway, but I just wondered if you have any thoughts about where Oyster might go or 

whether mobility as a service as a concept has any bearing on what is happening in London? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Maybe if I start and talk about 

the data side and then I will have Michael in terms of how we have been thinking about taking that 

forward. 

 

You are right, what we find with Oyster as a payment platform for public transport, it has transformed the 

way that Londoners have travelled, so when you think about the fact that we have customers being able to 

travel across London, across public transport modes, that has been hugely helpful in terms of promoting 

Page 41



 

 

 

public transport.  From a selfish data point of view, it also allows us to understand patterns in a much more 

granular level of detail than we could before.  Again, going back to my own interest in terms of data, that 

means that I can provide that to those of us who are planning the network better and running the network 

better so that we can get a more efficient outcome.  That has really been where we have started thinking 

about what is the payment platform and how you then get the data out of it to make it useful as we go 

forward. 

 

Going ahead, this is where, when we work together, Michael and I have discussed about how then you 

could think about it in the broader sense and where do you take it forward. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, you put your 

finger right on the button there.  We already provide a form of mobility as a service. The three pillars that 

constitute mobility as a service when people talk about it, firstly there is a set of transport services, then 

there is an information payment platform, and then there is a subscription by which you pay, and people 

often talk about paying for mobility like you pay for a mobile phone rather than buying a particular mode.  

There is a version of that already in London because we have a set of services under our integrated remit, 

we have Oyster, and the information that we provide, and then we have a subscription, which is either your 

travel card or your cap, which is daily or weekly. 

 

The question is not whether we do it, because we will do it, and it makes absolute sense for the strategic 

transport authority to be involved again, because a really important role for us is upholding the service 

evolved in a way that is inclusive, open to all, that does not create digital exclusion, all of those functions 

are ours. 

 

The questions left on mobility as a service are how do we improve the existing platform, and we do that, so 

these are probably your examples, Lauren, however last year we put contactless into black cabs, and we 

have just got the TfL app, and therefore we will continue to evolve the platform.  The really interesting 

question, which is both a policy one and a commercial one, is at what point and under what circumstances 

would you extend the range of services that could be included.  That raises some really interesting 

questions about, OK, to get access to the roundel or to the TfL brand, to provide that level of consumer 

trust that would justify someone being part of that service, what would you demand of an additional 

service to be part of the overall family? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you mean like for Zipcar or DriveNow, those car hire companies, is that the 

kind of thing you are thinking about there? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  It could be them, it 

could be demand-responsive service, it could be some kind of last-mile service to take you to a station, 

there is a range of things.  Any one of those things, for the future of mobility as a service, this is a really 

important lever that we have because essentially people want to be part of the integrated offer and that is 

a lever for us where we can exert some influence on the services as they evolve.  It may or may not be 

possible for us to integrate that, however, that is one way we can control and shape the future market. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Very briefly, also really focusing on passengers, however 

from the previous session, Professor McKinnon talked about logistics and data around logistics.  Are you 

Page 42



 

 

 

sharing that kind of data or would you consider commissioning research to understand that to see how 

new technology could add benefit for the final mile or so? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  Research, and thinking about 

how you frame a research question, there is some real value in this.  If you look at the efficiency of the 

network, if we can understand how you can run a freight network and a logistics network more efficiently, 

that is clearly going to have benefit for congestion.  Therefore, there is value in terms of thinking about 

how do we work with universities, how do we work with logistics companies, to frame a question, do 

analysis, and again, to the test and learn idea, if there is something that you could identify and try to 

measure and see what happens, there is real value in terms of doing that as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you have data around logistics already that you are 

sharing? 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  We have had some discussions 

with the freight community.  There is certainly more opportunity to think about this going forward. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  However it is not part 

of our data.  In the way, for example, we hold information on when the next bus is going to arrive at a 

given stop, so we do not hold open APIs in the same way on freight. 

 

Lauren Sager Weinstein (Chief Data Officer, Transport for London):  No, we would not.  What we 

do have of course is we have some information on congestion and jam cams and things like that where we 

do encourage that use from freight and logistics companies to make use out of that so they can run the 

network.  There are certainly opportunities in terms of saying how might you work with freight companies 

to identify ways, algorithms and questions that you could ask about the network that would be very 

interesting to us. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  OK, and my final question I think really is probably for 

Michael.  Wayfinder, which is an app that helps people with sensory disabilities that we supported as a 

Committee in the past, had a pilot at Euston and Pimlico and are looking to roll it out to six other stations.  

Do you know when that is being rolled out?  That is where you are working with a provider to provide a 

really useful service. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  I do not have that to 

hand, but I can provide that information outside of the session. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  You have heard of it?  You are aware of it? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Yes, absolutely, and 

there is a whole range of things also ongoing in this area.  There is an extremely rich accelerator/incubator 

start-up community in London, I think there are over 160 now - or even more - accelerators and 

incubators in London.  There is a huge wealth of talent.  We had a sense that they were not spending 

enough time on accessibility products.  It was in June we ran a session to try to engage with the 

community to say, “Look, this is going to go down extremely well for the city, I think there is a gap”.  We 

were very actively involved in that space, however, apologies, I do not have the timeframe for Wayfinder to 

hand.  I am happy to provide that. 

 

Page 43



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I really liked that because, as I say, they were something 

we had worked with before and really supported and it seems to have gone a bit quiet, and so I would like 

to know, because we would probably like to visit one of these stations when it is up and running. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I want to ask about demand-responsive bus services if I may, and the MTS 

states that demand-responsive bus services could potentially cater for gaps in service, and I think 

particularly in outer London it refers to as well.  Could you just tell me a little bit about how those 

initiatives could complement existing bus services and perhaps also tell me about the dangers that you 

would see as well in that? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  In terms of talking 

about the opportunity for that, there are a number of scenarios where the idea of a demand-responsive 

service, and it may be a bus, it may be a smaller vehicle -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes, a Mercedes or the Daimler Via initiative that is launching later this year, I 

looked at their vehicles, it looks like a very large minivan. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  Theirs is a private hire 

vehicle.  That is like the Vito; it is that kind of size.  If you look at, for example, the service that Arriva did 

in Sittingbourne in Kent, that was essentially a minibus that operates on a demand-responsive basis rather 

than on a fixed timetable.  There are a number of areas, if you look at again, grounding it in the transport 

challenges and mobility challenges we have, in situations such as providing transport to an out-of-town 

employment centre; or to harder-to-reach essential services, such as health care, there is an opportunity 

there.  Given the amount of growth and new development there is going to need to be in London, it is 

quite well established in terms of transport behaviours that when people move to a new area they are 

susceptible to being encouraged into more sustainable modes.  Therefore, if a new development can 

provide an opportunity that provides people with a viable alternative to commuting by car, that is an 

opportunity.  Similarly, if you can provide a more flexible service that will take people to a transport hub, 

all of those are potential areas where the concept of demand-responsive transport might have something 

to offer. 

 

Again, I want to make clear that we are really committed to working out what it can offer, however, it is 

not known. Huge leaps have been taken in the capacity for routing algorithms and booking algorithms and 

the speed with which this can be done, it has opened up a new set of possibilities.  Those are some of the 

examples that we are thinking through.  There are a couple of elements that we are doing in practical 

terms, we are thinking through whether and where a trial would be helpful so we can test the problems.  

Again, we are going to adopt those principles of do it on a limited basis, understand what the potential is, 

understand how we could have the integration, and -- 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Will it be TfL doing its own trial as opposed to -- 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  We could do our own 

trial.  You quoted Citymapper earlier.  They are also trialling right now a more flexible bus route.  There is a 

question for us about can we get the learning that we need if you have a commercial entity doing that.  

We are looking to collaborate with them.  We permitted that service; that is their own commercial decision 

to run that service, however what can we learn from how they have done it? 

 

Page 44



 

 

 

I can give you one further example.  What we are learning from this agenda is that the regulatory 

environment does not quite match.  The nearest thing we have for this space at this moment is something 

called the London Service Permit (LSP), which is designed for tour buses or buses that run outside the 

London bus network.  We are thinking through right now whether we need to put advice to the Mayor 

with proposals to revise that to make it fit for the emerging technology services.  We are working through 

that right now.  There is a lot of opportunity and we need to find it out.  I cannot tell you now that, yes, 

the specific benefits are going to be X and Y.  Conceptually, we think there is enough that it warrants 

looking at.  It could solve some problems and we want to take the learn-by-trial approach.  You asked 

about risk. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Risk, particularly about whether they could undermine existing services. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  We are talking about 

this right now as a complement to services.  Fundamentally, when we want to shape this market, we come 

back to the principles that we set out in the draft MTS in that we are trying to increase accessibility, we are 

trying to increase the mode shift towards public transport, cycling and walking.  We want to shape the 

market, therefore, that encourages that. 

 

There are some very good questions.  Probably some of things you are hinting at is that, at the moment, 

these things tend to be app-based and applicable through the app.  There is the service that Starship was 

talking about.  It knocks on your door by sending you something to your phone.  That might not work for 

everybody.  Similarly, we need to think through how this could work as a genuine increase of service.  

Those are the kinds of things we want to test.  How can you make such a service that it gets the benefits 

of the on demand, the flexible routing in areas that might not previously have been viable for a big bus or 

you did not have the flexibility that you need in new development in certain areas?  We want to test how 

that is possible but we are very live to those issues. 

 

This is the point, again, I do not want to say definitively it has to be this way or that.  I want to see how it 

works and understand the economics and fundamentally understand the consumer response, what the 

consumers want and need from this.  If you have that, then I can answer your questions about how we are 

going to make sure it remains an open, inclusive service. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You hinted at digital inclusion there, which obviously is an issue, but you also 

talked about TfL as a regulator of bus services and private licensed taxi services as well in the city.  You 

talked about the regulations perhaps not being fit for this new emerging technology.  Would you have the 

power into existing regulations to refuse to regulate if there was an undermining of existing bus usage on 

a bus service, for example? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  We are reviewing the 

LSP guidance, just to bound it at the moment.  If you are talking about a service that is launched as a 

private hire vehicle, that is well known and I have already tried not to talk about that too much today but, 

at the end of the day, those are well known.  As you know, we have been asking the DfT for more powers 

to be able to regulate that in additional ways that we are not currently able to. 

 

If somebody wants to launch the kind of service that does not fit within the existing London bus network, 

you are required to have a LSP, which we grant.  There is an open question about what goes into the 

mayoral guidance and that would be a decision for City Hall, but there is a set of guidance that you are 

allowed to derive from the MTS that sets those parameters.  We are working through all of those.  What 

Page 45



 

 

 

would we be able to demand or request?  There is a question whether you can do it specifically to protect 

bus services.  I do not know the answer because that is something that would require a legal opinion but I 

would say that, ultimately, it has to be consistent with the goals of the MTS that is leading to better public 

transport services and better accessibility.  We are working that through now.  We would need to consult 

on what that guidance looks like and the timings because we have to have the MTS finished first because 

we have to derive any guidance from that.  Our current aim is to have that discussion with City Hall and if 

we choose to consult and derive revision to that guidance, it will be as soon as we can after the MTS is 

published in its final form. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  We talk about demand-responsive bus services but, of course, 

some of the ones that are saying they are, you said car-sharing, in a sense, but it does throw up in the 

future lots of issues because if there are genuinely demand-responsive bus services operated by a private 

operator, then they are likely to want to pick their most profitable routes and, therefore, you will be left 

with those routes which require heavy subsidies.  The regulation is going to be extremely important around 

that. 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  It is.  I am going to 

come back to what I said right at the beginning because we have very explicitly, both through bus 

operators and anybody in the market, reached out to anybody who is thinking about launching demand 

responsive technology services in London.  We talked about the importance of engaging before you press 

the regulatory route, and Citymapper came through the LSP route.  There are no current LSP applications 

like that that are in play right now but I expect others to come.  You get an awfully long way by having 

that discussion to say, “Look, you could chase the most profitable routes”. 

 

We did turn down the first application which was from Citymapper because it was going to run along 

London Bridge and around the Bank junction.  These are areas where we are trying to reduce traffic, 

therefore, we said, “No, that is not going to work”.  We had, I would say, a very productive discussion to 

say, “Hold on a minute.  Is there a common ground here where we can make the most of that technology 

and solve a problem?”  What they have ended up doing is a temporary service but essentially as a primer 

for the night Overground, and allowing people to start using public transport where previously they might 

not have done.  My experience thus far is that if you say, “Look, this is going to be consistent with mayoral 

priorities.  This is the likelihood that you would get the thumbs up from us as a regulator and also from 

City Hall but you need to find an area that is sufficiently commercially attractive that is not going to screw 

up the transport network in another way or screw up the consumer experience in another way”.  So far, 

there seems to be quite a lot in that common ground to say, “This is sufficiently interesting but it is also 

solving the city’s problems”.  We get a sense there is potential.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  As an Assembly Member whose residents are regularly lobbying me for bus 

services where we currently do not have any, my reaction would be why does TfL not provide that service 

if there is demand there, particularly if it will make money that allows you to subsidise other bus services? 

 

Michael Hurwitz (Director of Transport Innovation, Transport for London):  The question is: at 

what cost would it make money?  At the end of the day, if you have a smaller vehicle and the economics 

are not yet proven whether it would be cheaper, we would not want to end up doing a whole load of new 

services that make a loss and increase the subsidy requirement.  The reason why I want to do the trials is to 

work through the economics. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes, thank you. 

Page 46



 

 

 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much indeed for your contributions.  We are very grateful 

to you.  Can I just say at this moment, though, that I would like to put on record my thanks to you both 

for coming along this afternoon?  It was very kind of you.  There are a few issues that we have raised that 

you do need to take back, especially around the MTS, around drones and droids and hopefully you will be 

able to.  The shame is that as it is only coming to light now, people have not had the opportunity to really 

make a contribution on those issues.  I have to say that you have missed the trick, in a way, with the MTS 

to open up the debate on drones and droids.  We are where we are and, hopefully, we will be able to go 

forward, but thank you very much for coming along. 

 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



 
 

 
          Appendix 3 

 
Transport Committee – Tuesday, 10 October 2017 

 
Transcript of Agenda Items 7 and 8 – London TravelWatch Business Plan and 

Budget Bid 2018/19 and Performance Report 2016/17 
 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  It is nice to see you both again.  Could I kick off, then, by asking if you 

could give a brief overview of your Performance Report and future Business Plan, please? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Thanks very much.  I will kick off and 

Janet [Cooke] may well add something to it.  Very briefly, just to highlight one or two things from this 

last year and then one or two key things coming up in the next year, last year we did a lot of work on 

interchanges which was well received generally and we feel that it is an area where we are well placed to 

do work and perhaps to lead the debate.   

 

Another big piece of work last year was obviously the report we did on the ticket offices.  We are 

pleased to say that the recommendations we made there were accepted.  For this coming year, we have 

very carefully monitored to see what happens because there is a big difference between 

recommendations being accepted and them being implemented.  We will be watching that very 

carefully indeed to make sure that the new system, without the ticket offices, does work for passengers 

and if it is not working for passengers, we would want to come back to the whole issue. 

 

A lot of it last year was the whole question of performance of Southern Rail.  It impacted very much on 

the south coast but clearly on London as well.  We had some dealings with Southern Rail prior to what 

happened because the monitoring reports we do regularly on the railways and on Transport for London 

(TfL) picked up some of what we thought might be going to happen.  If anything decent has come out 

of all that business - it may be something that we pushed for, for some time, has now been accepted 

generally - it is that passengers get compensation after a 15-minute delay which was not the case 

before.  It is something that passengers felt very strongly about and, as I say, if anything good came 

out of what was a pretty disastrous situation, that perhaps was it. 

 

The other thing to say, we continue to do our standard work and that includes dealing with the 

complaints.  During the rail crisis, the complaints did go up quite a bit.  They have now evened out 

again but again, it is probably the area which we are best known for. 

 

Moving on very rapidly for one or two things coming up this year and then I will finally deal with the 

costs.  Our thought is that Crossrail and the Elizabeth line will be important.  Also, Oxford Street 

pedestrianisation, when it happens and critically, the knock-on of both those effects on buses in 

particular.  We will be pressing and observing quite hard as to whether the knock-on effect on buses is 

detrimental because, as you well know, there are passengers who can only take buses for one reason or 

another, particularly people with mobility issues.  We would not want to see them disadvantaged with 

these new developments coming in. 

 

The other area, of course, is one you have just been talking about, which is the Mayor’s draft Transport 

Strategy.  We welcome the aspiration to get 80% of journeys by cycling, walking and public transport 

but we do think that is realistically going to be quite challenging and it is going to be particularly 

Page 49



 
 

challenging in outer London.  It is an area we will be looking at quite strongly and possibly quite 

critically to see that the performance matches the aspiration. 

 

Just one or two other quick topics.  On cycling, the development of the Cycle Superhighways under the 

previous Mayor and under the current Mayor is an important part of reaching that aspiration of 80% of 

journeys and we welcome that.  We also have continued to push for more devolution to TfL of the 

Overground rail services.  So far, that has not gone very far but it is something we will continue to do. 

 

Very quickly perhaps on our Business Plan on the costs, you will see we have put in for a standstill 

budget which we think is probably realistic in the circumstances.  We will be looking at the 

reorganisation of our staff - Janet [Cooke] is doing quite a lot of work on this.  This is not to make staff 

redundancies but in order to use our staff to the best of their abilities and to improve the productivity 

of the organisation.  That will be a key feature of our work during the course of this year. 

 

We will also, during the course of this year, be looking at our premises. The Board of Trustees has asked 

for a special report to come to our next meeting looking at the whole question of premises and the pros 

and cons of moving and, if we do, where we would go.   

 

Finally, Chairman, I am aware that in conversations you have had with some of our trustees that 

possibly next year, you would like a Business Plan with a little bit more detail about nuts and bolts.  

Talking with Janet, we are happy to work with yourself, Chairman, to see how we can develop that for 

this time next year. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Do you want to add to that, Janet? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  No.  John has given you a very 

comprehensive overview.  We will just take questions as appropriate. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Lovely, thank you.  The next question is: are there any ways you think 

the Transport Committee and London TravelWatch could work more closely together and more 

effectively? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Over the last few years, that is one of the 

positive things that has been happening.  We do, of course, go around and see Assembly Members on a 

regular basis.  What we could possibly do is, working with you and the Deputy Chair, over the course of 

this coming year or maybe even over the course of the next two or three years, identify what work we 

may be doing, what work you may be planning and see how we can co-ordinate that perhaps more than 

we have done in the past. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  That is very encouraging, thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Good afternoon.  Moving on to ticket office closures, do you continue to monitor 

implementation of your recommendations from the ticket office closure review and are you satisfied 

with the progress of TfL?  Who wants to field that one? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  I will start and Janet may take the difficult 

bit, Tom.  Yes, we are very much monitoring it.  It is going to be one of the key tasks for this coming 

year.  At this stage, we are not satisfied -- 

Page 50



 
 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You are not? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  -- that everything has been implemented. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  OK. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  TfL will probably say that they need a bit 

more time, which we would understand, but what we would not understand is if we were to come to 

you at this time next year and say that the recommendations have not been properly implemented. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You are giving them a year, is that what you are -- 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  I suppose that is the sort of unwritten 

understanding.  We are giving them about a year because we think that is long enough but if it is not 

working at this time next year, then we would want to consider what to do.  Do you want to add 

anything, Janet? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Just to briefly add on to that; it has been a 

huge undertaking.  TfL has absolutely signed up to agreeing the recommendations.  However, 

sometimes it is a matter of interpretation.  Things that we think we have been very clear on; this is a big 

ask.  As luck would have it, we have a meeting with Mark Wild [Managing Director, London 

Underground] in the morning.  Some of it is how they are addressing--  We are making the 

recommendation, this is the adverse impact on passengers, what are you going to do about it?  That is 

the area where we need to have further discussion and we will do that.   

 

I will just add because this is so important, not because of the Underground and the millions of 

passengers that use it but because you read across the national rail industry and we know this is the 

way people operate; it is trying to keep their costs down which we have no problem with.  This is a huge 

learning, not just for the Underground, but also for the national rail industry.  It is really important for 

us. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Maybe just to add; during the course of the 

year, if we felt that progress was not really being made, then we might want to speak with you because 

we do not want to wait a year and find that progress has not been made because, if it has not been 

made, then we would want to make recommendations and I suspect, from the Assembly, you would 

want to make recommendations as well. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Are there particular areas you want to highlight where progress has been poor? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  There is the whole debate around the role 

of the visitor information centres, the hours of opening of the visitor information centres, what they are 

there to do.  The profile of the staff which is something we know that they are working to address that.  

The fact that a ticket office, even if it is not very well used, which is something we are aware of; there 

are some stations where there may be ticket offices but they are not used but they act as a focal point 

for passengers looking for assistance.  The way that TfL are addressing that; it is not an easy one to do.  

That is the area we are probably most concerned about.  If it is a focal point, it has to be very easy for 

passengers not familiar with the station; maybe you do not speak English, first time in London, to be 

Page 51



 
 

able to find a member of staff.  That is probably the area that is most difficult for TfL and the area that 

possibly we are most concerned on. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Particularly there, it follows that would be 

some of the stations where people are coming from outside London, either from abroad or other parts 

of the country.  You arrive on the Eurostar at King’s Cross.  What do you do?  It is not entirely clear.  

The same may be the case at Victoria.  We will be looking at that very carefully. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We are aware that the recommendation that staff wear bright uniforms has not been 

implemented.  Are you expecting any further progress on that? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  I have a feeling that in our December Board 

meeting, we are looking for a one-year on update.  Presumably, Mark Evers [Director of Customer 

Strategy] will come on behalf of TfL.  That is one of the areas we are particularly interested in. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  You are quite right.  Bright uniforms are not 

there.  If they were, we would all notice them and they are not.  That is the sort of thing where we think 

that some of those issues, as Janet will say, may take longer to implement.  Others, we cannot really see 

why they could not be implemented very quickly and bright uniforms would come into that category. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It seems to me it is relatively simple to implement. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  That is right and that is what we will be 

looking at over the course of the year; what are the simple things, what are the quick wins?  We want to 

see them implemented as quickly as possible.  The longer-term stuff, we do understand it may be a bit 

longer term. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I just clarify?  You are saying that you think you 

have a review in December. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We have a Board meeting and I think - I do 

not have the agenda in front of me - what we are proposing is to have -- because it was a year ago that 

we made the recommendations.  We reported -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  December is the end of your one-year. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  We are looking to have a how is it 

going report in either December or January; we are one-year on.  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It is not from now for the next year.  It is from -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Sorry, either December 2017 or 

January 2018, which will one year on since we made the recommendations, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  That is months away, OK. 

 

Page 52



 
 

David Kurten AM:  I am going to stick with the ticket office closures review you did.  I understand 

that was commissioned by TfL? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  It was, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  How much were you paid to conduct this review by TfL? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  It was commissioned by the Mayor’s office 

but the Mayor is the Chair of TfL and TfL was instructed.  Of course, with the new Mayor, they were 

very keen to do anything they could to assist.   

 

We were not paid to do it.  What we did was we negotiated and the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 

Transport Committee were very helpful in this.  What we did was we recharged the costs that we 

incurred in doing it.  We did carry out some focus group research which was really helpful because we 

learnt things from that we would like to learn generally.  TfL commissioned that, it just made it easier.  

They paid for it but, very much, we set the standards, we agreed the questions and we set it.  They 

were not so much paying us but they reimbursed our costs.   

 

The actual direct cost went to about £4,500 worth of staff time.  I would have to go back into the detail 

but it something around £4,000 to £5,000 worth of our staff time that we recharged to them. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It did not affect you financially.  It was like you did it and you just charged the 

expenses to the Mayor’s office. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes.  We looked at the costs of senior staff 

time, particularly one of our policy officers who was working fulltime with us for a couple of months.  

To be fair, they provided us with one of their trainees.  Most of their trainees are probably pretty good 

but she was a very experienced second-year graduate trainee; she was excellent and she was a great 

help.  She also helped backup some of the other work that we were not doing, particularly around 

interchanges.  I have to say it was a bit of win/win because we spent a couple of weeks, and she was 

very good, teaching her how to see things from the passenger perspective rather than the operator 

perspective.  It was very interesting for her because she had worked with TfL in her first year, on the Fit 

for the Future Programme.  She knew too much, as an operator, about why these things had been put 

in place and she would sit and watch the research and she would say, “No, we have those dark uniforms 

because they are so dirty”, or we have this, that and the other.  It was really useful.  We sent her back 

into TfL having learnt a little bit about it does not matter why you have done it; if passengers cannot 

find the staff or if passengers cannot use the ticket machines, it is not working.  It was a win-win, 

David. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Something good for one of your staff that had to get a bit of extra training but -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  One of their staff would be then sent back 

after three months having learnt a little bit about life from the passenger perspective, which is not 

always the same. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  Just one more question on this.  Were there any other impacts of conducting 

a TfL-commissioned project on your core work as TravelWatch? 

 

Page 53



 
 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  No, because we were very careful to make 

sure, and this is where our prioritisation criteria came in and the discussions we had with your Chair and 

your Deputy Chair.  No, we could see this was so important and the learning that would come from this 

and the importance for passengers not just of the Underground but using London’s transport systems 

generally.  We could see it was really important, but we also had to work out how we could back up 

critical work we were not doing.  No, it was a win-win.  We had to delay some of our work and the 

research that we were doing on small stations.  We have put that back.  We did not publish that.  That 

was about six or seven months late coming through, but we agreed with the Board that that probably 

was not going to be a disaster.  It still came through.  We were able to reschedule things, but nothing 

critical slipped, David. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Fine.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am going to talk about bus users.  In the Business Plans in 2016/17 and 

2017/18, you were discussing new initiatives to improve the representation of bus passengers and so I 

am just really wondering what progress you have made to enhance the bus passenger voice? 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  When you asked the question to the last 

person, they said it was a very good question and you agreed.  That is also a very good question, 

Caroline. 

 

Seriously, bus users and their voices are absolutely critical because, as some of you know, I have been 

working in transport in various fields for many years and I have always felt that it is the bus user that 

has -- most people are bus users.  Their voices are not being heard properly and they have not been 

heard properly for many years.  We see these initiatives - which Janet will describe in some detail in a 

second - as critical to our work because, if we are essentially the complaints body, we need to hear not 

just from the more articulate rail users but from the less articulate and perhaps less confident bus users.  

I see that as a central part of our work.  You may want to describe the details. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, I agree.  We think it is really important.  

I have been at the organisation now for nine years and successive boards have really prioritised the user 

because buses are the fully accessible means of transport that is always running and more people use 

the bus than all the other modes.  However, actually getting the voice of users is really difficult, 

Caroline.  This might be something that we can maybe talk to the Transport Committee about how we 

could do more together. 

 

One of the things we are doing, though, is we tried quite hard to develop - because obviously resources 

are an issue - an electronic means of getting feedback from bus users.  That has had limited success, 

but what it did do actually was bring in an awful lot of, I suppose, local authority and representative 

groups signing up, but that was helpful. 

 

We are doing a lot of work trying to work with the community down in the Belvedere Thamesmead area 

because that is an area very much where buses are probably going to change with Crossrail coming in 

around the Abbey Wood area.  We have been talking to your colleagues on the London Assembly, local 

authority representatives and also the housing associations down there and trying quite hard to get bus 

users down there to engage.  It is hard work and we have to be careful of resources, but that is the area 

we will continue to focus on.  We have a long way to go, Caroline, and it would be helpful to work with 

you on that one. 

Page 54



 
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Great.  Are you still running an online bus community? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We are, but we have moved it onto a 

separate Twitter feed because it is more cost effective and we are having to build the numbers up.  

They are going up slowly but we are still talking about tens rather than thousands of users. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You had 300 members -- 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We did. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  -- in March 2016 and you are down to tens, are you, rather than 300? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, because, to be honest, when we 

looked at it, we realised that a lot of people had signed up for it and we suddenly realised that it was - I 

do not know - Borough X’s transport officer, which was great, but it actually was not Ms X who uses 

the bus and who is not part of the local authority.  It was not just representatives.  We have started 

again.  We have cleaned it up and we are growing slowly. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  It is still, to be quite honest, a dip in the 

ocean.  If we are perfectly honest, we still have not cracked this idea of getting the voice of the bus 

passenger.  It is something we have to do more work on. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It does certainly seem to be something that is crucial.  I also understand from 

our briefing that it is actually not something that is repeated in the 2018/19 Business Plan. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  It should be, I think. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  It is an underlying aspiration rather than a 

headline, “We are going to do something new”. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  So ... 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Sorry, we have not expressed it properly, 

Caroline.  Sorry. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes, and so that is something that we want to hear some progress on because 

in 2016/17 you were wanting to: 

 

“Give bus passengers a voice by further developing the online bus community and supporting [some] 

new bus user groups.” 

 

In 2017/18 you wanted to: 

 

“Give bus passengers a voice by further developing the online bus community and by supporting groups 

in locations ...” 

 

Page 55



 
 

You have been doing that work in Thamesmead and Belvedere, but it would be good to see some 

progress on that so that the voice of bus users, which, as John has pointed out, is so important, is in 

there. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  Yes, we will certainly look at that and when 

we report back to you we will give you more detail. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes, thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  If your Deputy Chair is saying that this is a priority and 

it clearly had been before, to then drop it completely from your Business Plan going forward -- 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  It should not have been.  It should not have 

been dropped because -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  I just feel that this is an area that every time you talk 

the narrative is there about how this is a really hard-to-reach community but really important to get 

their views, and yet it is not in your plan. 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We will do some editing, Caroline, to bring 

it back to the fore. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  It should have been there.  As Janet was 

saying, we just possibly took for granted that it was ongoing work and so we did not put it in, but it is 

very much there because, as I said to Caroline [Russell AM] here, it is not something we have cracked 

and it does require a fair bit of work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  It needs to be in and you need to have a clear 

objective -- 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Yes, I agree with that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  -- for what you are going to do on that because it is an 

area which really needs some work. 

 

Finally, you did touch on it in your opening remarks, John: accommodation.  You said you have a report 

coming to the next meeting on this.  Can you give us any further update - or maybe Janet can - on 

what alternative locations you are considering? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We had an informal discussion with the 

Board a few months ago and they have asked us to come back with a business case for three different 

locations - a central London location, a zone 2 location and a zone 3 location - for offices and look at 

what the rent implications are and all the other implications so that they can make some decisions 

about what we do next. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you have a company helping you with that? 

 

Page 56



 
 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  We have someone who has given us advice 

from time to time over the years about our rent reviews and that.  He represents very good value for 

money because he charges quite low rates because he has known us for a long time.  He is helping us, 

but it is getting indicative rents.  Also, he has been really helpful in giving us a feel for what the markets 

are doing in terms of offices and so far he has been right.  Jackie Ballard on our Board is also taking a 

particular interest in that and so she is working with my colleague on trying to focus the work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  When do we expect to hear about the final plan and 

the timescale for it? 

 

Janet Cooke (Chief Executive, London TravelWatch):  I imagine that we will need to see what the 

Board says when we meet with them, but I am assuming that you will have an update meeting with the 

Chair and the Deputy Chair in the new year.  At that point, that might a good time, when Arthur 

[Leathley, Chair, London TravelWatch] has had a chance to get his feet under the table a little bit.  

Decisions will need to be made in terms of this business year that we are talking about.  That might be 

quite a good time to give you an update then. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  In the New Year when you meet us.  Fine.  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Does anybody else have any questions?  No?  All right.  

Thank you very much.  It was nice to see you again.  Can I just thank you for what you have done?  

Also, I would like to put on record formally my thanks to your outgoing Chair, Stephen Locke, who was 

been in post for almost five years and has done a great job.  What I would like to do, actually, is to ask 

Caroline.  Would you like to say something, as you worked with Stephen over that period? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair):  Stephen really has helped hugely with the organisation 

and getting it to a stable footing where we are now.  We have already met with Arthur in the last week 

or so and we look forward to Arthur taking that forward and the challenges that go with this public 

sector in terms of tightening budgets and the complex workload.  I am confident that Arthur will take it 

forward, but Stephen has got you to a really good place and we are grateful for his work. 

 

Keith Prince AM (Chairman):  Yes, all right.  Thank you very much indeed. 

 

John Stewart (Deputy Chair, London TravelWatch):  Thank you very much. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 8 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 10 October 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Future Transport 

Professor Alan McKinnon to provide the Committee 

with a calculation of the estimated number of droids 

that would be required in order to reduce road 

congestion in London by 1%. 

Henry Harris-Burland to provide the Committee with a 

copy of Starship Technologies’ Memorandum of 

Understanding with the London Borough of Southwark. 

 

 

 

 

Michael Hurwitz, Director of Transport Innovation, 

Transport for London to provide the Committee with an 

update on the progress of the further piloting of the 

Wayfinder app. 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Completed. The MOU 

has been circulated to 

Members, however, as 

it contains 

commercially sensitive 

information, it has not 

be published with the 

agenda.  

 
Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Professor Alan 

McKinnon 

 

Henry Harris-

Burland  

 

 

 

 

 

TfL 

 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4



        

Item Topic Status For Action by 

 

 

 

 

 
7. 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the 

investigation into Future Transport. 

 

Work Programme 

That Authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for an investigation into London’s cycling 

infrastructure 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Completed. The scope 

and terms of reference 

are set out in the 

report at Item 7 on the 

Agenda. 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 12 September 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

10. 

 

 

 

 

 

11. 

Outer London Junctions 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the Outer 

London Junctions rapporteurship. 

 

Work Programme 

That a visit to a National Rail station to consider 

accessibility issues for disabled people be agreed and 

that authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the details of the visit 

 

Future Transport 

Professor Maria Kamargianni, UCL, agreed to provide 

the Committee with the survey undertaken by UCL on 

mobility as a service for London. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any related site visits. 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

 
Professor Maria 
Kamargianni, 
UCL 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 60



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 18 July 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

4. Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

During the course of the discussion, the Transport 

Commissioner agreed to provide the following: 

 The feasibility study considering the potential need 

and impact of congestion charging for private hire 

vehicles; 

 Supporting information and evidence which has 

been published alongside the Transport Strategy, 

notably data on numbers and types of vehicles on 

the road network; and 

 Details of TfL’s response to the Chris Gibb report 

on the Southern Rail Network and TfL’s response 

to the South Eastern trains consultation by Geoff 

Hobbs, Head of Transport Planning, Transport for 

London. 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport 

Commissioner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 
4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 61

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Motorcycle Safety  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 November 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on motorcycle safety with invited guests. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on motorcycle safety and notes the discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Leads Members, to agree any output arising from the meeting. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Transport Committee investigated motorcycle safety in 2015/16, responding to a recent rise in 

motorcyclist casualties on London’s roads and scrutinizing the delivery of Transport for London’s 

(TfL) Motorcycle Safety Action Plan.  

3.2 The Committee published a report in early 2016, Easy Rider, setting out recommendations for TfL, 

including on increasing take-up of rider training, improving the collection of collision data and 

ensuring greater access to bus lanes.1 

3.2 The Committee has agreed to follow-up its 2016 report by meeting TfL and other leading 

stakeholders to assess progress with improving safety. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/easy-rider-improving-motorcycle-

safety-london  

Page 63

Agenda Item 5

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/easy-rider-improving-motorcycle-safety-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/easy-rider-improving-motorcycle-safety-london


        

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss motorcycle safety: 

 Lilli Matson, Director of Transport Strategy, TfL; 

 Anna Zee, Director of Political and Technical Services, British Motorcyclists Federation; 

 Craig Carey-Clinch, Policy Adviser, Motorcycle Industry Association; and 

 A representative of Deliveroo. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 64

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London Underground Rolling Stock  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 November 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on London underground rolling stock 

procurement with the Deputy Mayor for Transport and representatives from Transport for London 

(TfL). 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report, puts questions to the Deputy Mayor for Transport 

and Transport for London on London Underground rolling stock procurement and notes 

the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1  News reports on 10 October 2017 revealed that TfL had put on hold plans to buy additional trains 

for the Northern and Jubilee lines.1 The announcement was not made by TfL, although the 
organisation confirmed the reports.  
 

3.2 The new trains were intended to increase capacity and reduce overcrowding. 17 additional trains on 
the Northern line would allow for a 30 trains-per-hour service on all branches of the line, and 10 
additional trains on the Jubilee line would allow for a 36 trains-per-hour service. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss the reasons for, and implications 

of, this decision: 

 Val Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport; and 

 David Hughes, Director of Strategy and Service Development, London Underground, Transport 
for London. 

 

                                                 
1
 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-41572173  

Page 65

Agenda Item 6

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-41572173


        

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 66

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


  Agenda Item 7  
 

                                                                    
 

Subject: Cycling Infrastructure  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 November 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report provides information on a new investigation into cycling infrastructure. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the scope and terms of reference for the investigation into 

cycling infrastructure, as agreed under delegated authority by the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree any related site visits. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Transport Committee has launched an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure.  

 

3.2 This investigation will examine the Mayor’s and Transport for London’s (TfL) approach to cycling 

infrastructure. It will look back at the changes that have been introduced to infrastructure in recent 

years and consider how effective they have been at increasing cycling, and their effect on other road 

users. It will seek to clarify the current Mayor’s cycling priorities in the context of his Healthy Streets 

agenda, and recommend ways of using infrastructure to increase cycling take-up. 

3.3 Previous work of the Transport Committee on cycling includes: 

 A major report on cycling in 2012, recommending increased segregation of cycling 

infrastructure.1 A follow-up report in 2014 recommended further work to make junctions 

safer.2 

 In 2009, Joanne McCartney AM led a rapporteurship for the Committee on cycle parking. 

This found that TfL’s delivery of additional parking spaces was not keeping pace with its 

ambitions for an increase in cycling.3 

                                                 
1
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/gearing  

2
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/cycling-report-

update  

Page 67

Agenda Item 7

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/gearing
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/cycling-report-update
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/cycling-report-update


        

 The Committee is currently undertaking an investigation on future transport, examining 

emerging technology in the transport sector. This is considering app-based services, 

including new ‘dockless’ cycle hire services. 

 Caroline Russell AM is currently undertaking a rapporteurship for the Committee on walking 

and cycling at outer London junctions. This is considering what improvements could be made 

to make these junctions safer and support modal shift to walking and cycling. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The Chairman has agreed the following terms of reference for the investigation under delegated 

authority, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members. The call for 

evidence attached at Appendix 1 summarises the scope of the investigation: 

 To examine the Mayor’s strategy for London’s cycling infrastructure, considering how his 

Healthy Streets approach will differ from previous approaches. 

 To hold the Mayor to account on delivering his manifesto commitments on cycling. 

 To assess the effectiveness of existing infrastructure schemes, particularly Cycle 

Superhighways and Quietways. 

 To consider ways to improve public consultation about cycling infrastructure schemes. 

 To recommend ways of using cycling infrastructure to increase cycling take-up. 

 

4.2 The Committee will use its January and February 2018 meetings to discuss this topic. Further 

informal meetings and site visits are also being considered. The Committee is recommended to 

delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead 

Members to agree any related site visits. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 - Call for evidence: cycling infrastructure 

                                                                                                                                                                            
3
 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-

parking-london  

Page 68

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-parking-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/stand-and-deliver-cycle-parking-london


        

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 853 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 69

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



 

1 
 

Transport Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account 
and investigating issues that 

matter to Londoners 

 

Call for evidence: cycling infrastructure October 2017 

The London Assembly Transport Committee has launched an investigation into 

London’s cycling infrastructure, to consider the effectiveness of existing 

infrastructure and the Mayor’s future priorities for investment in the context 

of efforts to deliver Healthy Streets. 

This paper invites organisations and individuals to submit views and 

information to the committee on the investigation, giving you the opportunity 

to inform our work and influence our recommendations. We pose a number of 

key questions to be answered. 

Increasing take-up of cycling 

Increasing the take-up of cycling among Londoners has been a priority for 

successive Mayors and Transport for London in recent years.  

The number of cycling journeys made in London each day has increased from 

around 490,000 in 2008 to 670,000 in 2015. The overall modal share of cycling 

has remained around two per cent however, as journeys across all transport 

modes have gone up. Demographically, regular cyclists are different to the 

London population as a whole: they are more likely to be male and white.1 

Recent analysis by TfL suggests that there are 8.17 million journeys made daily 

in London by motorised transport modes that could be cycled. The greatest 

unmet potential for cycling growth is in outer London, where only five per cent 

of cyclable journeys are currently undertaken by bike.  

                                                      
1
 TfL, Attitudes towards cycling, 2016 

In his draft Transport Strategy, released in June 2017, the Mayor has proposed 

a new target for 80 per cent of trips to be made by walking, cycling or public 

transport by 2041. In our response to the strategy consultation we have called 

for a specific cycling modal share target to be set as part of this. 

London’s cycling infrastructure 

TfL has pursued a range of initiatives to promote cycling in London. Policies 

have included the provision of training, parking facilities, supporting 

organisations to produce travel plans, and the cycle hire scheme.  

Over recent years, TfL policy has increasingly focused on the construction of 

physical cycling infrastructure on London’s roads. A change in direction 

towards more segregated infrastructure followed our report in 2012 

recommending this approach. 

Our investigation will cover the full range of cycling infrastructure in London, 

with a particular focus on: 

 Cycle Superhighways: a form of cycle lane, designed to make cycling safer 

by helping keep cyclists away from general traffic, and offer direct and 

continuous cycling on major routes. 

 Quietways: a network of cycle routes that link key destinations, improving 

safety and convenience through small-scale interventions. 

 Mini-Hollands: TfL schemes to invest neighbourhood-level improvements in 

walking and cycling, involving a range of interventions in each area. 

 Cycle parking: provision of parking spaces on-street, at stations or in 

dedicated parking facilities. 

Appendix 1 

P
age 71

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/travel-in-london-reports
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/attitudes-to-cycling-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/attitudes-to-cycling-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/analysis-of-cycling-potential-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/attitudes-to-cycling-2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/draft-mayors-transport-strategy-2017
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/transport-committee-response-mayors-transport
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/gearing


 

2 
 

Transport Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account 
and investigating issues that 

matter to Londoners 

 

Call for evidence: cycling infrastructure October 2017 

It is important that TfL is able to establish the effectiveness of the 

infrastructure it installs on London’s roads. We are concerned that to date 

there has been no comprehensive study of the new infrastructure’s impact on 

cycling safety, modal share and other road users. 

The Mayor’s priorities 

With some modifications, Sadiq Khan has continued to implement the cycling 

infrastructure projects developed by TfL under his predecessor, with ongoing 

delivery of planned Superhighways and Quietways.  

The Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy set out further proposals for cycling in 

London. There is an over-riding ambition to deliver ‘Healthy Streets’, a multi-

faceted agenda involving improvements to cycling facilities as well as a wide 

range of other interventions for London’s road network. The strategy also has a 

focus on making cycling to London’s town centres easier, and sets a target for 

70 per cent of Londoners to live within 400 metres of a high-quality, safe cycle 

route by 2041. 

In our response to the strategy consultation we highlighted the lack of a clear, 

long-term vision for London’s cycling infrastructure, beyond the delivery of 

projects already planned. TfL has recently published a Strategic Cycling 

Analysis, identifying 25 major cycling routes where feasibility studies will be 

conducted for infrastructure improvements. 

Key questions 

Questions we are seeking to address in this investigation include: 

1. What progress on new cycling infrastructure has been made under Sadiq 
Khan, and what are his long-term plans? 

2. Has TfL resolved the problems that delayed some cycling schemes under 
the previous Mayor? 

3. Has segregation delivered the anticipated benefits on the Cycle 
Superhighways? How many cyclists are using these routes?  

4. To what extent has segregation had negative consequences for other road 
users and, if necessary, how can this be mitigated? 

5. Have Quietways delivered their anticipated benefits? How many cyclists 
are using them? 

6. What are the differences in infrastructure between inner and outer 
London? How can TfL ensure infrastructure in different areas is sufficient 
and appropriate to the location? 

7. How will TfL’s new ‘Strategic Cycling Analysis’ help determine where and 
how to invest in infrastructure? 

8. How appropriate is the 400-metre target set in the draft Transport 
Strategy? Can we equate proximity with access? 

9. Is TfL’s approach to public engagement working effectively to improve 
scheme designs and meet stakeholder needs?  

10. Are Londoners sufficiently aware of the cycling infrastructure available to 
them, and how can awareness be increased? 

P
age 72

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/healthy-streets
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/strategic-cycling-analysis.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/strategic-cycling-analysis.pdf


 

3 
 

Transport Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account 
and investigating issues that 

matter to Londoners 

 

Call for evidence: cycling infrastructure October 2017 

11. How is TfL using infrastructure to attract a more diverse range of people 
to cycle in London? 

12. Is there sufficient cycle parking in London, and is it in the right locations? 

13. How are the lessons of the Mini-Hollands and other previous cycling 
schemes being applied elsewhere? 

14. Should cycling infrastructure be oriented toward longer-distance 
commuting journeys, or more localised trips? 

How to contribute to the investigation 

We welcome submissions from any organisations and individuals with views 

and information to share on this topic. Submissions should aim to address any 

of the questions outlined above, and other issues that are relevant to the 

scope of the investigation. We are keen to hear from cyclists and users of other 

transport modes, organisations delivering services on roads, businesses, 

London boroughs, campaigners, transport experts and anyone else with an 

interest in this topic. To contribute, please send submissions to the Committee 

by the deadline of 22 January 2017 using the details below.1 

Email submissions TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk  

Postal submissions Richard Berry, London Assembly, City Hall, The 

Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Further information 020 7983 4199 

Media enquiries 020 7983 4228 

About the Committee 

The Transport Committee examines all aspects of the capital's transport 

system in order to press for improvements for Londoners. The Committee 

monitors how the Mayor's Transport Strategy is being implemented, and 

scrutinises the work of Transport for London and other transport operators. 

Committee Members 

 Keith Prince, Chairman (Conservative) 

 Caroline Pidgeon, Deputy Chair (Liberal Democrat) 

 Shaun Bailey (Conservative) 

 Tom Copley (Labour) 

 Florence Eshalomi (Labour) 

 David Kurten (UK Independence Party) 

 Joanne McCartney (Labour) 

 Steve O’Connell (Conservative) 

 Caroline Russell (Green) 

 Navin Shah (Labour) 

 

 
1 

We will publish written submissions online unless they are marked as confidential or 
there is a legal reason for non-publication. We may be required to release a copy of 
your submission under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, even if it has been 
marked as confidential. 

P
age 73

mailto:TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 74



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 8 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned or ongoing scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and 

the schedule of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2017/18 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2017/18 

Assembly year, including the schedule of prospective topics for forthcoming meetings set 

out at paragraph 4.20. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to use its December 2017 meeting to discuss pedicabs and for 

a discussion with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on her recent work and ongoing 

priorities. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is planning to explore in this Assembly year: 

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy; 

 Car clubs; 

 Emerging transport technology (Future Transport); 

 Pedicabs; and 

 Motorcycle safety. 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



        

4.2 In addition to the above, the Committee will also consider whether to undertake scrutiny of the 

following topics, with further decisions to be made later in 2017/18 about specific projects and 

meetings: 

 Demand management on public transport; 

 20mph speed limits; 

 Cycling infrastructure and the Cycle Hire scheme; 

 Crossrail 2; 

 Heathrow Airport surface transport access; and 

 River services. 

4.3 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) toward the end of 2017/18. 

4.4 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.5 The Committee has launched an investigation into London’s cycling infrastructure. This work is 

assessing the recent changes to infrastructure and examine the Mayor’s vision for future investment. 

The Committee is planning to use its meetings in January and February 2018 to discuss this topic.  

 

4.6 The Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, has agreed the 

scope and terms of reference for the investigation. Further detail is provided under another item on 

this agenda. 

 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

4.7 The Mayor is developing a new Transport Strategy, setting out the overarching transport policies for 

London. A draft for consultation was published in June. Formal meetings on 12 and 18 July were 

used to discuss the strategy with the Mayor’s Office, Transport for London, experts and 

stakeholders. A further informal meeting was held with the Deputy Mayor for Transport on             

24 August 2017, discussing issues such as rail upgrades, cycling infrastructure and measures to 

tackle congestion. 

 

4.8 The Committee’s response to the Strategy, which was agreed by the Chairman under delegated 

authority in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group Lead Members, as noted at the 

meeting in October 2017. 

 

Future transport: emerging transport technology 

4.9 There is a range of new technology being applied in the transport sector, including autonomous 

vehicles (also known as driverless cars), drones, and app-based services. These technologies may 

change the way people use the transport network, potentially transforming the user experience and 

the way traditional transport services are delivered. The Mayor is exploring how new technology can 

be applied through a new Smart London Board.  

 

 

Page 76



        

4.10 The meetings on 12 September and 10 October 2017 were used to discuss this topic. Informal 

meetings and site visits to Starship Technologies (1 November) and the GATEway project (13 

November) are also planned, with a final report expected in early 2018. 

 

Car clubs 

4.11 Car clubs allow for members to book a shared car when they need one. They are seen as an 

alternative to car ownership, and may help reduce the number of private cars on the road overall. 

Transport for London has promoted car club membership, and the Deputy Mayor for Transport said 

this was one of her early priorities in 2016. The Committee discussed this topic with TfL, experts and 

stakeholders in June 2017. Findings from this work have informed the Committee’s Future Transport 

investigation and scrutiny of the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

Pedicabs 

4.12 The Government has proposed new legal powers for Transport for London to regulate pedicabs (also 

known as rickshaws) in London, although specific plans are yet to be confirmed. At present, pedicab 

operators do not require a license to take passengers on London’s roads, unlike taxi and private hire 

services. Concerns have been expressed over a number of years in relation to pedicabs about the 

passenger safety, traffic congestion and over-charging. 

 

4.13 It is recommended that the Committee use part of its meeting on 6 December 2017 to discuss this 

topic with TfL and other invited guests. 

 

Motorcycle Safety 

4.14 The Committee published a report on motorcycle safety in early 2016, recommending measures to 

increase the take-up of training and access to bus lanes. TfL’s previous Motorcycle Safety Action 

Plan has now reached the end of its timeframe for implementation and may need to be updated. The 

Committee is looking to follow-up its previous recommendations on this topic.  

 

4.15 TfL and other stakeholders have been invited to today’s meeting to consider motorcycle safety, as 

discussed under another item on this agenda. 

 

Outer London junctions 

4.16 Caroline Russell AM is leading a rapporteurship on behalf of the Committee into outer London road 

junctions.  Members have undertaken a number of site visits for this investigation, including in 

Croydon, Walthamstow, Bow, and Gallow’s Corner. A report is being prepared by officers. 

 

Site visits  

4.17 At recent meetings on the draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy the Committee discussed disabled 

people’s access to National Rail stations. On 24 November, Members will visit a National Rail station 

to learn more about the challenges disabled people face and how stations could be upgraded.  

 

Deputy Mayor for Transport  

4.18 The Committee has invited Val Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport, to attend today’s 

meeting to discuss London Underground rolling stock, as discussed under another item on this 

agenda. It is recommended that the Committee’s use part of its next meeting on 6 December 2017 

for a more general discussion of the Deputy Mayor’s recent work and ongoing priorities.  
 

Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.19 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

Page 77



        

 

2017/18 schedule of meetings 

4.20 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2017/18 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 Wednesday 6 December 2017 – Pedicabs; 

 Wednesday 10 January 2018 – Cycling infrastructure; 

 Thursday 1 February 2018 – Cycling infrastructure; and 

 Thursday 1 March 2018 – TfL Commissioner. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 855 and 856 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Report on bus safety Response from the Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

October 2017 

Report on bus network design and planning Response from the Mayor and TfL due by the end of 

October 2017 

Page 78

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Transcript of item 6
	Appendix 2- Transcript of item 6
	Appendix 3 - Transcript of items 7 and 8

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Motorcycle Safety
	6 London Underground Rolling Stock
	7 Cycling Infrastructure
	Appendix 1 - Cycling infrastructure call for evidence

	8 Transport Committee Work Programme

